ECONSTOR

Make Your Publications Visible.

A Service of



Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Flaminiano, Clarisa Joy A.; Puyat, Vicente Alberto R.; Antonio, Victor Andrew A.; Uy, Jhanna; Ulep, Valerie Gilbert

Working Paper Spatiotemporal Analysis of Health Service Coverage in the Philippines

PIDS Discussion Paper Series, No. 2022-42

Provided in Cooperation with: Philippine Institute for Development Studies (PIDS), Philippines

Suggested Citation: Flaminiano, Clarisa Joy A.; Puyat, Vicente Alberto R.; Antonio, Victor Andrew A.; Uy, Jhanna; Ulep, Valerie Gilbert (2022) : Spatiotemporal Analysis of Health Service Coverage in the Philippines, PIDS Discussion Paper Series, No. 2022-42, Philippine Institute for Development Studies (PIDS), Quezon City

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/284579

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



WWW.ECONSTOR.EU

DISCUSSION PAPER SERIES NO. 2022-42

Spatiotemporal Analysis of Health Service Coverage in the Philippines

Clarisa Joy A. Flaminiano, Vicente Alberto R. Puyat, Victor Andrew A. Antonio, Jhanna Uy, and Valerie Gilbert T. Ulep



Institute for Development Studies

The PIDS Discussion Paper Series constitutes studies that are preliminary and subject to further revisions. They are being circulated in a limited number of copies only for purposes of soliciting comments and suggestions for further refinements. The studies under the Series are unedited and unreviewed. The views and opinions expressed are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect those of the Institute. Not for quotation without permission from the author(s) and the Institute.

CONTACT US:

RESEARCH INFORMATION DEPARTMENT Philippine Institute for Development Studies

18th Floor, Three Cyberpod Centris - North Tower EDSA corner Quezon Avenue, Quezon City, Philippines Spatiotemporal Analysis of Health Service Coverage in the Philippines

> Clarisa Joy A. Flaminiano Vicente Alberto R. Puyat Victor Andrew A. Antonio Jhanna Uy Valerie Gilbert T. Ulep

PHILIPPINE INSTITUTE FOR DEVELOPMENT STUDIES

December 2022

Abstract

We conducted a spatiotemporal analysis of trends and disparities in health service coverage indicators using PhilHealth data on insurance claims, membership, and accredited facilities merged with auxiliary datasets from the Department of Health and Philippine Statistics Authority. The results emphasize clear disparities in population coverage, facility coverage, service coverage, and financial protection across different subpopulations.

Keywords: universal health care, health service coverage, spatiotemporal analysis, PhilHealth, equity

Table of Contents

1. Introduction	1
2. Literature review	2
2.1 Research framework of the analysis	2
2.2. Research objectives	
3. Methodology	4
3.1. Data	4
3.2. Data processing	6
3.3. Statistical analysis	
4. Results and discussion	11
4.1. Population coverage	
4.2. Facility coverage	
4.3. Service coverage	
4.4. Financial risk protection	
5. Conclusion and policy recommendations	
6. Bibliography	
7. Annex	

List of Tables

Table 1. Relevant variables from eClaims data used for the study	. 5
Table 2. Criteria for assessing framework domains	. 9
Table 3. Average population coverage by location, 2020	12
Table 4. Breakdown of population coverage by membership category, 2020	13
Table 5. Median provincial hospital bed density by location, 2021	16
Table 6. Median hospital bed density by hospital ownership and level, 2021 \hat{a}	18
Table 7. Summary statistics on PhilHealth accredited hospitals per location, ownership, and	b
level (2018-2021)	21
Table 8. Share to total admissions by island group and GBD grouping, 2018 to 2020	22
Table 9. Share of claims (%) by membership categories, hospital ownership, and hospital	
level, 2018 to 2020	24
Table 10. Admission rate and share to total admissions for NCDs by age group, 2018 to	
2020	27
Table 11. Average number of ACSC claims and share to total admissions, 2018 to 2020 2 Table 12. Admission rate and share to total admissions for ACSCs by age group and sex,	28
2018 to 2020	30
Table 13. Average support value by location, 2018 to 2021	31
Table 14. Average support value (%) by membership categories, hospital ownership, and	
hospital level, 2018 to 2021	32
Table 15. Average support value (%) by location, hospital ownership, and patient	
accommodation, 2018 to 2021	32
Table 16. Adjusted claims amount, claims charge, and average support value for top 15 GBD sub-groups in claims amount, 2018 - 2021	35
GBD sub-groups in claims amount, 2018 - 2021	35

List of Figures

Figure 1. Links between the health financing system and policy objectives, other system	
functions and overall health system goals	1
Figure 2. Analytical framework based on Tanahashi (1978)	3
Figure 3. Linking datasets for spatiotemporal analysis	7
Figure 4. PhilHealth population coverage by province, 2020	. 13
Figure 5. (a) Share of indirect contributors and (b) share of indigent/sponsored to total	
registered members	. 14
Figure 6. Equity analysis for population coverage indicators	. 15
Figure 7. Hospital bed density by province, 2021	. 17
Figure 8. Equity analysis on hospital bed density, 2021	. 19
Figure 9. Distribution of PHIC accredited hospitals, 2021	. 20
Figure 10. Admission rates (per 1,000 population) in each province	. 23
Figure 11. Equity analysis for admission rates	. 25
Figure 12. Admission rates for NCDs (per 1,000 population) in each province	. 26
Figure 13. Ambulatory-care sensitive conditions and Health Systems	. 28
Figure 14. Admission rates for ACSCs (per 1,000 population) in each province	. 29
Figure 15. Average support value by province, 2018 to 2021	. 33

Spatiotemporal Analysis of Health Service Coverage in the Philippines

Clarisa Joy A. Flaminiano, Vicente Alberto R. Puyat, Victor Andrew A. Antonio, Jhanna Uy, and Valerie Gilbert T. Ulep

1. Introduction

The Universal Health Care (UHC) Act of 2019 paved the way for ensuring that healthcare services are "affordable, acceptable, available, and accessible" (Republic of the Philippines 2019). It outlines comprehensive reforms to achieve health system goals, *that is,* all Filipinos regardless of socio-economic status should have access to essential high-quality care services without financial hardship.

To achieve these health system goals, the country depends on the ability of the health financing system to drive equity, efficiency, transparency and accountability in the provision of healthcare services. **Figure 1** shows the functional components of health financing systems, *namely*, revenue raising, resource pooling, provider purchasing, and breadth and depth of benefits (see Kutzin, 2013). The UHC Act provides specific reform actions to strengthen these components, and PhilHealth, being the main purchaser of healthcare services plays a vital role. In this light, the government should regularly assess its performance.

Figure 1. Links between the health financing system and policy objectives, other system functions and overall health system goals



Source: Kutzin 2013

In this paper we examine the performance of PhilHealth in terms of population coverage (*that is*, how many people are covered), service coverage (*that is*, how many people are accessing care), and financial risk protection (*that is*, how much of the population are exposed to out-of-pocket payments). To our knowledge, this study is one of the first in the Philippines to thoroughly use PhilHealth membership, accredited facilities, and insurance claims data, tying it to other auxiliary datasets to investigate performance at the provincial level.

The paper is organized as follows: the next section provides a review of the literature and discusses the theoretical framework used as the basis for this study; the third section provides details on the data and methodology applied to estimate the spatiotemporal and distributional equity of health service coverage in the Philippines. Section 4 describes the trends in population coverage, service coverage and financial risk protection, with a detailed discussion of trends observed. The last section concludes and provides several policy recommendations.

2. Literature review

2.1 Research framework of the analysis

2.1.1. Health performance

In recent decades, the Philippines has made significant improvements in population health. Infant mortality rate (IMR), the most sensitive indicators of population had improved from almost 50 infant deaths in 1980's to 20 death infant deaths in 2019. The improvement in child survival resulted to improvement in life expectancy at birth, which increased from 62 years in 1980 to 69 years in 2019.

However, the trend of general improvement in health status on a national level masks inequity across geographic locations, sex, age, and income group. The IMR of the poorest quintile (31 deaths per 1,000 livebirths) is comparable to most low-income countries, while their richest counterparts (9 deaths per 1,000 livebirths) are at par with most upper-middle-income or even some high-income countries. This shows the variable health performance across sub-national units.

The Philippines is facing rapid epidemiologic transition to non-communicable diseases (NCDs). While progress has been made in maternal and child health and infectious diseases, the incidence of noncommunicable diseases (NCDs) is increasing due to a combination of increasing behavioral (e.g., smoking) and metabolic risks (e.g., high consummation of sugar and fat) and population aging. Data from the Institute of Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME) show that the share of NCDs accounted for about 65% of the country disease burden in 2019, which increased from 39% in the early 1990s. Evidence suggests that the share of premature mortality is increasing in poorer communities (Ulep, Uy, and Casas, 2020).

The slow improvement in health outcomes could be attributed to limited access to essential healthcare services. While the Philippines has undertaken various health sector reforms towards achieving universal health coverage, access to essential healthcare services remains a major challenge. The World Health Organization (WHO) measures access of the population to essential using the UHC Service Coverage Index. The Philippines has the lowest index score in the region. Countries with lower per capita national income in the ASEAN region have better scores than the Philippines (World Health Organization, 2019).

2.1.2. Accessibility of healthcare

Universal access to healthcare services is critical to improve population health. Healthcare access is a complex process. Therefore, Tanahashi (1978) proposes a working framework,

which captures five interrelated dimensions: availability (*that is*, people for whom service is available), accessibility (*that is*, people who can use the service), acceptability (*that is*, people who are willing to use service), contact (*that is*, people who use service), and effectiveness (*that is*, people who receive effective care). Services must have the capacity and resources available to deliver the appropriate level of care, be accessible to those who will use them, and be acceptable to those who will use them, based on financial and sociocultural factors. Any challenge that affects any dimension hinder the provision of healthcare services. For example, lack of capital investments limit the services that can reach the target population. Even if services are available, low acceptability results in decreased service provision.





Source: Left image from Tanahashi (1978), Right image created by authors

Disparities in service provision occur from poor availability, geographic accessibility, affordability, or acceptability of services (Peters et al. 2008). As barriers can arise from issues with multiple dimensions (Tanahashi 1978), addressing problems requires a holistic approach that utilizes interventions that consider the complex interaction across these dimensions (Jacobs et al. 2012). In addition, given that the burden of diseases and health needs tend to be higher for disadvantaged populations, service delivery should address social determinants of health (Marmot 2007; Friel and Marmot 2011).

2.2. Research objectives

Using Tanahashi (1978) as the theoretical basis, we examine the performance of PhilHealth in providing healthcare services. Specifically, we selected a variety of indicators that could be further categorized into the following domains:

• *Population and facility coverage* - focuses on the (1) population covered by the NHIP and (2) health facilities and beds accredited by PhilHealth. Assessing membership coverage vis-à-vis accredited facilities under the NHIP provides insight on how to implement policies that can maximize the availability and geographic accessibility of services.

- *Service coverage* focuses on admission/utilization rates by different disease groups and categories. By assessing admission rates, the demand for services in terms of both willingness to use services and actual utilization of services can be determined. Furthermore, the quality of care and efficiency of healthcare providers can also be inferred, based on the diseases treated at different levels of care.
- *Financial risk protection* measures support value per member of the population, (i.e., the proportion of healthcare costs covered by the NHIP). This indicator provides a direct assessment of progress towards the goal of the NHIP to cover a higher proportion of costs for services and ensure effective service delivery to the population without risk of expenditure beyond the capacity of a patient to pay.

3. Methodology

3.1. Data

This study uses information collected from various data sources. The primary datasets were collected from PhilHealth, while the auxiliary datasets were retrieved from the Department of Health (DOH), Philippine Statistics Authority (PSA) and Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME).

3.1.1. Primary data sources

- *Membership*: Annual aggregate data on PhilHealth membership were provided for years 2018 to 2021 in Excel format, where each sheet contains data for a specific member type.¹ The dataset contains variables such as member type, sex, member count and location data (e.g. PhilHealth Regional Office name, province, municipality). The variable year represents the latest membership count as of year-end. For example, all information for year 2018 is interpreted as the status of PhilHealth membership as of December 2018. The same applies for the other years. To prepare this dataset for analysis, the research team generated new variables such as member category and member subcategory based on member type information. There are two (2) member categories: direct contributor and indirect contributor; and six-member subcategories: formal economy, lifetime paid, others (which include migrant workers, dual citizens, kasambahays, etc.), senior citizen, and indigent/sponsored beneficiaries. For this study, membership is defined as the sum of the total number of members and dependents registered in the PhilHealth database.
- Accredited facilities: PhilHealth data on accredited facilities consist of the following information: institution name, accreditation number, institution code, location details (i.e. region, municipality, province), social sector (i.e. private, government), class (i.e. Level 1, 2 or 3 hospital, etc.), number of implementing beds and number of PhilHealth accredited beds. The data was extracted from the PhilHealth PowerBI server last August 2022 and has information on all the PhilHealth accredited health facilities as of

¹ Due to data availability and privacy constraints, this study opted to use aggregate data (i.e. sum of membership counts) instead of member level data for the analysis.

30 June 2022. To further exploit this database, it was later on linked to the DOH National Health Facility Registry (NHFR) and the PSA PSGC codes.

• *Electronic Insurance Claims (eClaims)*: The data on electronic insurance claims collected by PhilHealth contains variables describing patient characteristics (e.g. age, sex, anonymized PhilHealth ID number, patient member type), and hospital and claims information such as unique identifier number for each claim filed, primary and secondary diagnosis/es in ICD-10 code, room type, year and date of admission, date the claim was received, received-refile date, date check was issued and institution code. **Table 1** lists the relevant variables from the eClaims database that were used for this study.

Variable	Description	Data Type
series	Unique identifier for the claim, anonymized	String
pseudo_pin	Patient's PhilHealth Identification Number (PIN), anonymized	String
inst_code	PMCC licensing number of the health care provider	String
member_category	Major category for the patient's PhilHealth membership type: either Formal Economy, Informal Economy, Lifetime Member, Sponsored, Senior Citizen, or Indigent	String
member_subcategory	Subcategory for the patient's membership type	String
patage	Patient age, in years	Numeric
patsex	Patient sex: M for male or F for female	String
out_patient	Indicator for whether the claim was for an outpatient service	Boolean
c1, c2	Case rates 1 and 2, whether diagnosis or procedure code	String
Icdcode1 - icdcode10	Other diagnosis codes as listed in the claim forms	String
rvscode1 - rvscode10	Other procedure codes as listed in the claim forms	String
claim_amount	Total amount reimbursed by PhilHealth to the health care provider taken as the total amount for case rate 1 + the half of the amount for case rate 2	Numeric
actual_amount	Actual total charge by the hospital for the inpatient stay	Numeric

Table 1. Relevant variables from eClaims data used for the study

Source: Authors' compilation.

3.1.2. Auxiliary datasets

- *Philippine Standard Geographic Code (PSGC)*: The PSGC dataset is publicly available from the PSA website for downloading in Excel format. It provides information on the PSGC codes used as of 30 September 2020 for each region, province, and municipality along with the corresponding LGU name, LGU type, and other LGU characteristics such as city type, income class, population count (2015 census), number of barangays per LGU, urban population count in LGU, and the poverty incidence at the province and municipality/city level. Linking this dataset with the primary data sources from PhilHealth allow researchers to identify spatial trends at more granular levels (provincial or municipal) and generate more location-specific insights and policy recommendations.
- *Poverty Statistics*: The latest poverty statistics can be downloaded from the PSA website in Excel format with relevant variables such as province name, poverty cluster², poverty incidence rates, and 90% confidence interval values.
- *National Health Facility Registry (NHFR)*: The NHFR is a registry that is managed and annually updated by the Department of Health. It lists all the national health facilities in the country and provides information such as accreditation year, whether the facility is DOH licensed or not, HCI number, accreditation number, HCI name, HCI description (e.g. Level 1 hospital, maternity clinic, etc.), social sector (e.g. government, private), region, province name, municipality name, number of DOH beds, and number of PhilHealth accredited beds. The annual data for used for this study was provided last 7 September 2022 through eFOI in an Excel file format and covers all health facilities accredited in 2018 until 2021. This dataset is merged with the PhilHealth accredited facilities data as part of the data quality check process that ensure consistency.
- *Global Burden of Disease (GBD) Grouping:* Another auxiliary data used in this study is the list of International Classification of Diseases (ICD) codes mapped to the Global Burden of Disease cause list. The raw list contains variables such as cause/disease and its corresponding ICD-10 and ICD-9 numeric codes. The dataset was further processed to assign a unique numeric code (cause ID) for each cause. These information helps broaden the analysis of health service coverage indicators used in this study, allowing to focus on particular diseases or conditions of interest.

3.2. Data processing

3.2.1. Linking the primary and auxiliary datasets

We conduct a series of data cleaning and processing steps for the PhilHealth datasets, including the rearranging of data table structures, standardizing geographic location names across datasets, and excluding data that has quality issues.

² The poverty incidence cluster variable is a numeric variable with values ranging from 1 to 5, where Cluster 1 indicates the bottom (poorest) cluster of provinces and Cluster 5 refers to the top (richest) cluster of provinces.

After initial data processing of PhilHealth data, the primary datasets were merged to the auxiliary data from the Department of Health (DOH), Philippine Statistics Authority (PSA), and the IHME Global Burden of Disease (Figure 3) before final analysis.

To ensure that the standard provincial naming convention is used throughout the study, we link the location information available from the primary datasets to the PSGC dataset from the Philippine Statistics Authority. This initial step standardizes location data across PhilHealth, DOH, and PSA datasets. Instead of using province names, we use PSGC codes as the main location identifiers. Prior to the linking process, we conduct data quality checks since naming standards are inconsistent across datasets (e.g. some province names are abbreviated, different formatting).



Figure 3. Linking datasets for spatiotemporal analysis

Source: Created by authors.

- We link auxiliary datasets, particularly the DOH National Health Facilities Registry and PSA Poverty Statistics to the PSA PSGC codes using province name. Similar to the first step, this allows for the use of province PSGC code as the main location identifier across all datasets.
- We link the primary datasets to PSA Poverty Statistics, using province PSGC code as the common identifier. We classify provinces from poorest to richest, based on poverty incidence clusters. This step is helpful in conducting equity analysis that can produce insights on the relation between the different health service coverage indicators of interest and poverty incidence at the province level.
- We compare the data on PhilHealth accredited facilities by different characteristics to data from the DOH National Health Facility Registry to determine facilities accredited under NHIP. We link the datasets using the healthcare institution code that is common in both databases.
- Lastly, we merge eClaims data with the IHME data on Global Burden of Disease grouping using the ICD-10 codes as the common identifier.

3.2.2. Conducting data quality checks

We implement data quality checks to ensure that the insights from the spatiotemporal analysis are accurate. We focus on six data quality attributes, which are completeness, timeliness, uniqueness, accuracy, validity and consistency.

Throughout the data processing and linking of datasets, we identify several data quality issues. There are some that could be resolved by further cleaning and processing, while others are quite challenging to address. These issues are noted accordingly throughout this paper for transparency.³ Examples of data quality issues include:

- Different naming conventions for provinces and municipalities across datasets require additional processing of geographic location data to ensure that they could be properly assigned the correct PSGC codes. Furthermore, variables for provinces in PhilHealth and some PSA datasets do not exclusively include provinces and some datasets included highly urbanized and independent component cities amongst list of provinces, resulting in province lists of different sizes across datasets.
- There are duplicate observations for data that should pertain to unique IDs (e.g. duplicates based on name, year and location), which are excluded in the analysis of accredited facility coverage. Furthermore, not all facilities with healthcare institution ID codes were accredited facilities, necessitating the exclusion of facilities without an indicated accreditation number for the analyses.
- Text string names are inconsistently or incorrectly encoded, even when the same facility was being referred to, requiring further processing to identify facilities by similarity of names and identify potential duplicates before further analysis of facility coverage.
- For the facilities data, we address completeness by dropping observations where the HCI location was unknown.
- There are inaccurate and inconsistent data points. For instance, in the PhilHealth DOH merged facilities dataset, there where instances that a health facility had lesser number of DOH licensed beds than the number of PhilHealth accredited beds. Inconsistent facility coding between the PhilHealth and DOH datasets also posed challenges in the merging process.
- Membership categories are not uniform across years (e.g. categories were changed 2020 onwards) and there is a lack of documentation provided detailing the changes to these variables and how previous member counts were converted to most recent membership categories, requiring the study team to determine criteria on how to consolidate categorization of certain member types to be consistent across years before doing further analysis.
- For membership data by sex and province, there are observations where member count had a value of zero, or with no assigned sex. These are excluded in the analysis.
- Claims are not always tagged with ICD-10 codes and some claims using ICD-10 codes are not always encoded according to the original data standard, due to a lack of data validation at time of entry and receival of claims. Claims without codes and those improperly tagged are excluded before analyzing admission rates and support value by diseases.
- Claims do not always provide valid values for age and sex. Claims that indicated patients with an age less than zero and greater than 120 or with an invalid value that did not indicate male, or female are excluded from subgroup analyses.

3.3. Statistical analysis

This study focuses on five indicators of health service coverage outlined in **Table 2**, covering different subpopulations based on location, time, age group, sex, member category, and facility type. The processed datasets, complemented by other dimensional and factual information that were gathered, were used to calculate the indicators. The indicators were holistically evaluated

³ Data attribute definitions are provided in the **Annex Table A1**.

across all dimensions of service coverage to analyze the factors underlying the challenges and gaps in membership, facilities accreditation, service coverage, and financial protection in support of PhilHealth and other relevant stakeholders' functions to provide equitable, efficient, and high-quality services throughout the country.

The linked primary and auxiliary datasets were used to estimate the indicators and conduct the spatiotemporal and distributional health equity analysis. STATA V17.0 was used for initial data processing of data from PhilHealth claims with PSA data on population counts, geographic location. Python was used to perform data engineering, cleaning, and transformations into the tables used for visualization. Choropleth maps to visualize admission rates per subpopulation were generated through Tableau using PSGC codes to geo-reference locations across different provinces.

3.3.1. Population and facility coverage

We analyze membership counts and accredited facilities count using the processed and merged membership and accredited facilities data from 2018 to 2021 across provinces within the country. Due to limited data on outpatient and primary care benefits, the analysis focused on inpatient services admissions and costs provided by accredited hospitals.

Domain	Indicator name	Numerator	Denominator	
Population and facility coverage	Population covered by the National Health Insurance Program	PhilHealth member count	Population count	
	Facilities and beds accredited by PhilHealth	PhilHealth accredited facility or bed count	Population count	
Service coverage	Admission rates by disease and disease group	Number of claims per disease group	Population count	
	Admission rates for select ACSC	Number of claims per ACSC	Population count	
Financial risk protection	Support value provided to Population	PhilHealth reimbursement for claim	Hospital charge for claim	

Table 2. Criteria for assessing framework domains

Source: Authors' compilation

We define population coverage as the proportion of PhilHealth registered beneficiaries by province, including members and dependents, to total province population. To estimate the ratio, we merge membership data with PSA geolocation codes and population census data for 2020. Since disaggregation by sex were available for both datasets, we perform subpopulation analysis.

We assess facility coverage by comparing hospital bed density across provinces. This indicator is the proportion of PhilHealth accredited beds per province per 1,000 province population. For accredited bed counts that exceed the bed capacity determined by the DOH, as indicated in the NHFR, accredited beds, we assume to be the hospital bed capacity, to account for possible overestimations of actual availability in accredited beds in hospitals. We perform subgroup analysis by hospital ownership and hospital level. Lastly, we perform equity analysis by determining the correlation between population coverage, facility coverage and poverty incidence at the province level.

3.3.2. Service coverage

As PhilHealth policy provides case rates for patients being treated for multiple conditions, the ICD-10 code indicated as primary diagnosis in the claim was used, with a single claim representing one instance of service utilization within hospitals. We conduct a subgroup analysis based on GBD groupings and another for ambulatory-care sensitive conditions (ACSC). In general, we estimate utilization rates using data from eClaims and PSA population census. It is the ratio of the number of claims per province relative to province population. Again, we perform subpopulation analysis by age and hospital characteristics (ownership, facility type).

For this study, we included the eClaims data collected from 2018 to 2020 in the analysis of service utilization rates. We exclude the year 2021 due to the reduction in hospitalizations and claims amounts since March 2020, the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, due to the imposition of travel restrictions and increased reluctance to travel in fear of infection (Ulep et al 2021). We exclude 2,420,169 claims due to failure to conform with ICD-10 codes set for specific conditions.

For the analysis by Global Burden of Disease (GBD), the primary diagnosis of each claim was classified into the main GBD groups, based on common causes and risk factors across age, sex, and geographic location. These groups are:

- Infectious, maternal, neonatal, and nutritional diseases:
 - Infectious diseases are those that can be spread through contact with persons or animals infected or objects contaminated with pathogens.
 - Maternal and neonatal conditions refer to any conditions that can cause health complications during critical stages in life.
 - Nutritional disorders are diseases that arise from lack of proper amount of nutrients from dietary intake. This includes lower respiratory tract infections, urinary diseases and infections, diarrhea, and dengue.
- NCDs: Chronic conditions that do not result from infection. This includes hypertension, diabetes, chronic kidney disease, and asthma.
- Injuries: Bodily harm caused by accidents, falls, hits, weapons, and more. This includes road injuries, mechanical accidents, violence, and self-harm.

Next, we tag claims according to whether the main ICD-10 code was considered an ACSC (see Supplementary **Table A2**). Although ACSCs are commonly monitored in multiple countries, the list of specific conditions that are considered ACSCs vary between countries due to different financial, political, and sociodemographic contexts. Therefore, ACSCs that were common across ACSC lists used by different countries (Gibbons et al. 2012) and those used in

studies with similar designs conducted in other countries (Magalhães and Morais Neto 2017; Santos et al. 2022; Becker et al. 2022) were chosen.

For service coverage, we use crude admission rates as the numerator in the formula to calculate adjusted admission rates (Equations 1 and 2). Admission rates are age-adjusted, based on life stages grouping (0-4 years, 5-19 years, 20-59 years, 60 years and above) using counts of different subpopulations from the 2020 population census. We calculate 95% confidence intervals to measure precision and compare the rates of different provinces.

Crude Rate = [Average claims in 2018 to 2021 for ACSC within province / Total population in province] x 1,000 (Eq. 1)

Adjusted Rate = [(Crude Admission Rate by age, sex, and province) x (Total population by
age, sex, and province / Total population of country)](Eq. 2)

3.3.3. Financial risk protection

Alongside service coverage and utilization, we estimate support value provided by the NHIP. Effective financial protection in a health system should reduce out-of-pocket (OOP) patient costs that are not covered by insurance, as much as possible. Support value is the total cost covered by national health insurance, out of the total hospital charges for services (Equation 3). We perform analysis at the province level, as well as subgroups by membership category and disease groupings, using the merged eClaims and GBD datasets.

Support Value = [Total adjusted claims amount covered by national health insurance / Total adjusted hospital charges] (Eq. 3)

Individual case support values that are above 100% were excluded from the calculation of average support value to account for potential administrative and data quality issues, including the underestimation of charges and actual service delivery costs or inaccurate reporting of claims amounts.

4. Results and discussion

This section presents and discusses the results of the assessment of geographic and distributional health equity in the country within the context of dimensions of health service coverage, specifically population coverage, facility coverage, service coverage, and financial risk protection using PhilHealth data.

4.1. Population coverage

Indicators on population coverage reflect who are currently insured by PhilHealth. Through the Universal Healthcare Law, all Filipinos are automatically enrolled under the National Health Insurance Program – which makes PhilHealth coverage rate 100 percent. However, to allow for monitoring and evaluation of progress in this dimension, this study relies on data collected by PhilHealth on *registered beneficiaries* (both members and dependents) listed in their database. The results from the spatiotemporal analysis provide more granular information that produces location-specific insights that could be helpful in setting targets to ensure full coverage is achieved and fully implemented. The goal of this domain is to identify any geographic discrepancies in PhilHealth population coverage across provinces.

On average, population coverage in 2020 was high across the country, apart from a select few provinces in the Mindanao area (**Table 3**). The province level disaggregation is presented in **Figure 4**. Red-shaded cells represent areas with low coverage, while the green-shaded ones are those with high coverage; those in the middle are shaded yellow/orange.⁴ The map is dominantly green indicating that most Filipinos across provinces are registered in the PhilHealth database.

Location	Average population			
	coverage			
Luzon	90.7			
NCR, Region III, Region IV-A	98.9			
Visayas	90.5			
Mindanao	87.82			

Table 3. Averag	e population	coverage by	location,	2020
-----------------	--------------	-------------	-----------	------

Source: Authors' analysis of merged data on PhilHealth membership (2020) and PSA Census on Population and Housing (2020). Note: Population coverage is computed as the share of PhilHealth registered beneficiaries to total population.

The provinces with the least coverage (52 percent and below) are Maguindanao, Lanao del Sur, Basilan, Sulu and Tawi-Tawi – all of which are in Mindanao with some even considered as conflict-affected areas (Figure 4). This could pose a challenge for PhilHealth in endeavoring to raise member registration for these priority areas and achieve universal population coverage of the NHIP in the country.

In terms of distribution by category, around 71 percent of registered beneficiaries in GMA are direct contributors, particularly from the formal and informal economy⁵. Membership breakdown in Luzon and Visayas is fairly divided between direct and indirect contributors while Mindanao has the largest share of indirect contributors – mostly indigent/sponsored at 57 percent (**Table 4**). Indigents and families under government programs such as the Pantawid Pamilya Pilipino Program (4Ps) and individuals or families under the National Household Targeting System for Poverty reduction fall under the indirect contributor category and are athigher risk of contracting diseases.

⁴ Ideally, the indicator value should range from 0 percent (no coverage) to 100 percent (full coverage). However, due to data quality issues, there were several instances where the number of registered beneficiaries exceeded the population count. For the purpose of this study, the authors acknowledge this issue but nonetheless decided to proceed with the analysis with this caveat in mind.

⁵ Members in the formal economy include those who are employed either in the public or private sector, while those in the informal economy comprise of professionals or are self-employed. Direct contributors (others) consist of members registered as *kasambahay* (househelp), family driver, migrant worker, or dual citizens.

Figure 4. PhilHealth population coverage by province, 2020



Source: Authors' analysis of data on PhilHealth membership data (2020) and PSA Census on Population and Housing (2020). Note: Population coverage is computed as the share of PhilHealth registered beneficiaries (members and dependents) to total population. Red-shaded areas represent provinces with low coverage. The green-shaded areas are those with high coverage, those in the middle are shaded orange. Grey-shaded areas indicate that data the indicator was not computed due to data unavailability or failed data merging.

		Direct co	Direct contributor (%)				Indirect contributor (%)		
	All members	Formal	Informal	Lifetime Paid	Other s	Senior Citizen	Indigent/ Sponsored		
Philippines	100	27.0	17.5	2.3	6.0	11.4	35.8		
GMA	100	39.3	21.5	2.3	8.5	11.9	16.5		
Luzon	100	23.0	17.5	2.3	6.4	12.7	38.1		
Visayas	100	23.8	16.2	2.5	4.9	12.3	40.4		
Mindanao	100	22.0	14.8	2.0	4.1	8.6	48.5		

Table 4. Breakdown of population coverage by membership category, 2020

Source: Authors' analysis of merged PhilHealth membership data (2020) and PSA Census on Population and Housing (2020). Note: GMA = Greater Manila area is composed of NCR, Reg III, and Reg IV-A.

An example is Sulu where 77 percent of the population are registered as indigent/sponsored (**Figure 5**). In addition to Sulu, areas with a share of indigent/sponsored members greater than 60 percent are Masbate (69%) in Visayas, and Lanao del Sur (65%), Basilan (63%), Tawi-Tawi (61%), and Zamboanga del Norte (61%) in Mindanao. As a result, majority of membership in these provinces consists of indirect contributors. Other provinces with higher than 60% share of indirect contributors include Kalinga (62%) in Luzon, Dinagat Islands (70%) and Eastern Samar (62%) in Visayas, and Maguindanao (64%), Agusan del Sur (62%), Surigao del Sur (61%), exhibiting that provinces that consist majorly of indirect and indigent/sponsored members are in Mindanao.

Figure 5. (a) Share of indirect contributors and (b) share of indigent/sponsored to total registered members



Source: Authors' analysis using data on PhilHealth membership (2020) and PSA Census on Population and Housing (2020). Notes: Red (green)-shaded areas represent provinces with high (low) shares of indirect contributors or indigent/sponsored members, those in the middle are shaded orange. Grey-shaded areas indicate that data the indicator was not computed due to data unavailability or failed data merging.

Additionally, there is an inverse relation between population coverage and poverty incidence (coefficient: -0.4183; R-squared: 0.3304; P-value: <0.0001). Provinces with low poverty incidence tend to have high membership coverage, while there is still a need to expand beneficiary coverage in the poorest areas. Priority areas are those in the poorest provinces with low coverage such as Sulu, Basilan, and Sarangani in Mindanao (**Figure 6**). Furthermore, there is a positive correlation between the share of indirect contributors and poverty incidence (coefficient: 0.4737; R-squared: 0.4511; P-value: <0.0001), suggesting that challenges with enrolment are encountered in provinces with high poverty incidence possibly due to difficulty in reaching and or categorizing indirect contributors within said provinces. This result, when interpreted with the previous findings, shows that the poorest provinces tend to have low population coverage – of which most are senior citizens, indigents, or sponsored beneficiaries.



Figure 6. Equity analysis for population coverage indicators

Source: Authors' analysis of merged PhilHealth membership data (2020), PSA Census on Population and Housing (2020), and PSA Poverty Statistics (2021).

These insights are similar to the finding by Larson and Hill (2005) in the United States where health insurance disparities between urban and rural areas exist. These differences were related to employment, with rural areas tending to have smaller scale employers, lower wages, greater prevalence of self-employment, and higher poverty incidence. Similarly, there could be a larger proportion of direct contributors in rich and richest provinces due to bigger scale employment opportunities, higher wages, and lower poverty incidence influencing the ratio of direct to indirect contributors among those registered under the NHIP. Furthermore, lower wages and fewer job alternatives in rural areas are also associated with higher risk of illness (Tian et al. 2015; J. Li and Rose 2017). Process inefficiencies in the classification and enrolment of indigent and sponsored members under the NHIP may also limit membership coverage in poorer provinces. In other LMICs, indigent members of the population may not be enrolled under the National Health Insurance Schemes if the applied criteria for classifying indigent members is not properly adjusted to the socioeconomic conditions of subpopulations that are being targeted (Kotoh and Van der Geest 2016) and the definition of eligible populations for different types of membership schemes is inconsistent between communities (Savadogo et al 2015).

The urban-rural disparity in membership coverage is concerning, given that OOP expenditures remain a major source of household health expenditure throughout the country (Higuchi 2010; G. Flores and O'Donnell 2016) and overall health expenditure is estimated to increase for the entire population in the upcoming years (Abrigo 2019). Coupled with findings from other countries that HCPs accredited under national insurance schemes are disproportionately located in urban areas (Adewole et al. 2022) and they do not cover the costs of all hospital services in rural areas (Xiong et al. 2018), there is a need to improve membership coverage to ensure equitable distribution of benefits to all Filipinos across provinces.

4.2. Facility coverage

Accessibility to healthcare was examined by analyzing trends in facility coverage to determine whether there are adequate number of accredited hospitals or beds available to meet the population's health needs.

Based on the DOH Administrative Order No. 2006-0004, the bed-to-population ratio must not exceed 1:1,000 before allowing additional beds to be put up in a particular province or region.⁶ In 2021, the median available accredited hospital bed density for the Philippines was 0.735. (**Table 5**). A subgroup analysis by location reveals that there are differences between island groups, with NCR, Region III, and Region IV-a having the highest median hospital bed density, that is closer to the DOH bed-to-population ratio for allowing additional beds to be implemented, compared to the noticeably lower median bed densities in Luzon and Mindanao, revealing a pronounced need to prioritize availability of beds in provinces within island groups with low hospital bed density to meet health demands of the population.

	All hospitals
Philippines	0.735
NCR, Reg III, Reg IV-a	0.813
Luzon	0.568
Visayas	0.728
Mindanao	0.555

Source: Authors' analysis of data on PhilHealth Accredited Facilities, DOH National Health Facility Registry, PSA 2020 Census on Population and Housing. This table only includes accredited beds in Levels 1 to 3 hospitals. The indicator was not computed for some provinces due to data unavailability or failed data merging (e.g. Dinagat Islands). Median was used due to the presence of outliers, such as Davao del Sur and Batanes being outliers with a hospital bed density of 3.854 and 4.034

The disparities in hospital bed density across regions and provinces reflect clear discrepancies in the accessibility and utilization of health services, with wide variability in hospital bed density across provinces (Figure 7).⁷ The map indicates many provinces with hospital bed density values below 1 across the country, thus showing that the insufficiency of beds, relative to their population needs, is a widespread challenge in the country. Provinces with a density less than 0.5 per 1,000 population include Occidental Mindoro (0.096), Oriental Mindoro (0.464), Aurora (0.336), Ifugao (0.241), La Union (0.469), Pangasinan (0.485), Palawan (0.499), Romblon (0.428), and Marinduque (0.314) in Luzon, Samar (0.474), Northern Samar (0.29), Masbate (0.05), Antique (0.417), and Guimaras (0.133) in Visayas, and Tawi-Tawi (0.214), Sulu (0.25), Zamboanga del Norte (0.198), Zamboanga, Sibugay (0.262), Lanao del Sur (0.276), Maguindanao (0.29), Basilan (0.254) Sarangani (0.306), Davao de Oro (0.141), Davao Oriental (0.226), Sulu (0.15), Surigao del Sur (0.429), and Agusan del Sur (0.285) in Mindanao. Most of aforementioned provinces are located in Mindanao provinces, some of which were also identified to have populations that mostly consist of indirect contributors and have high poverty incidence. These provinces, therefore, require attention from PhilHealth to further increase the availability of accredited beds, alongside DOH projects to augment the availability of both hospitals and beds to the different subpopulations.

⁶ <u>AO-2006-0004.pdf (doh.gov.ph)</u>

⁷ Hospital bed density across provinces is computed as the number of PhilHealth accredited beds per 1,000 population for each province.

Figure 7. Hospital bed density by province, 2021



Sources: Authors' analysis of merged data on PhilHealth Accredited Facilities, DOH National Health Facility Registry, and PSA 2020 Census on Population and Housing. Notes: Red and orange-shaded areas represent provinces with hospital bed density less than 1, while the green-shaded areas are those values equal to or greater than 1. Grey-shaded areas indicate that data the indicator was not computed due to data unavailability or failed data merging (e.g. Dinagat Islands). Davao del Sur and Batanes were outliers that were excluded in the left map due to having a hospital bed density of 3.854 and 4.034, respectively; the legend and color scheme were adjusted to reflect this.

General hospitals are classified into three levels — Level 1 which offer minimum healthcare services, Level 2 that provide extra facilities like intensive care unit and specialist doctors, and Level 3 hospitals that have training programs for doctors, rehabilitation, and dialysis units, among others. Subgroup analysis of bed density by hospital ownership and level suggest that there are also inequities in access to health services across locations and hospital characteristics (Table 6). Median hospital bed density is higher for privately-owned Level 2 and 3 hospitals than government-owned hospitals. Between hospital ownership, median bed density is higher across all levels for NCR, Reg III, Reg IV-a, and Mindanao, as well as higher in private Level 2 and 3 hospitals in Luzon and Visayas. Within ownership across all island groups, median bed density among government-owned hospitals is highest in Level 1 hospitals, except for Mindanao, while median bed density is the lowest in Level 1 hospitals that are privately owned. In Mindanao, median hospital bed density is highest among Level 3 hospitals across ownership. These results are similar to findings in other LMICs that suggest that service availability and readiness is generally higher in private hospitals (O'Neill et al 2013). There is a need to improve the capacity of government hospitals beyond Level 1 and the accessibility of Level 1 private hospitals to ensure high availability and quality of services across ownership and level. This can be partially addressed through the provision of hospital beds and that contribute to service delivery capacity and lead to improvements in the quality of care (Dayrit et al. 2018).

		,,	-p				
		Governm	ent				
	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	
Philippines	0.67	0.42	0.55	0.67	1.15	0.97	
NCR, Reg III, Reg IV-a	0.66	0.25	0.27	0.78	1.33	0.34	
Luzon	0.68	0.51	0.55	0.57	0.97	0.98	
Visayas	0.69	0.49	0.54	0.25	0.90	0.96	
Mindanao	0.45	0.35	1.01	0.83	2.07	1.10	

Table 6. Median hospital bed density by hospital ownership and level, 2021

Sources: Authors' analysis of merged data on PhilHealth Accredited Facilities, DOH National Health Facility Registry, and PSA 2020 Census on Population and Housing. Median was used due to the presence of outliers, such as Davao del Sur and Batanes being with a hospital bed density of 3.854 and 4.034.

The scarcity of accredited beds across the country indicates disparities in hospital capacity that limits the availability and readiness of hospital services for subpopulations residing in these areas, which is most prominent in poorer provinces. The negative relation between provincial poverty incidence and hospital bed density (coefficient: -0.0257; R-squared: 0.1348; P-value: <0.001) emphasizes the lack of accredited beds in these poor areas (**Figure 8a**).

The goal of policymakers is to maximize service coverage across provinces, as represented by high population coverage and hospital bed density. There is a significant positive relation between population coverage and hospital bed density (coefficient: 0.023; R-squared: 0.2097; P-Value: <0.0001), suggesting that most focus is directed towards increasing hospital bed availability for provinces with 85 percent population coverage and above, regardless of poverty income cluster (**Figure 8b**). However, provinces with less than 85 percent population coverage tend to have lower hospital bed densities and can be considered as priority areas. For instance, Tawi-Tawi, which belongs to the poor poverty incidence cluster, has only 36 percent membership coverage and less than 1 hospital bed for every 1,000 population.

In terms of the distribution of accredited hospitals, **Figure 9** illustrates the variations across provinces. Since 2018, the total number of accredited hospitals has increased from 1,104 to 1,141; however, the total number of hospitals from 2020 decreased from 1,150 (**Table 7**). The share of hospitals by location has remained stable from 2018 to 2021, where a large number are in the NCR, Region III, Region IV-a, and Luzon. The share of accredited hospitals by ownership and level has also remained stable from 2018 to 2021. In 2021, there were a total of 1,141 accredited hospitals, of which 65 percent are privately owned. A subgroup analysis by hospital level shows that around 94 percent of accredited hospitals are categorized as Level 1 and 2 hospitals. However, the low share of Level 3 hospitals implies that only a limited number of beneficiaries, mostly those in richer provinces where said hospitals are more available, benefit from services offered by these specialty hospitals, while those in poor areas have no access to specialized services to handle critical cases, which somewhat places a higher burden on the Level 1 and 2 hospitals to provide effective primary care.



Figure 8. Equity analysis on hospital bed density, 2021

Source: Authors' analysis of merged data on PhilHealth Accredited Facilities, DOH National Health Facility Registry, PSA Poverty Incidence Statistics.

The UHC law requires all provinces ensure that its population has access to Level 1 and Level 2 hospitals. As of 2021, all provinces were generally able to meet this requirement. Overall, around 43 percent of all Level 1 hospitals are publicly owned by the government; however, this proportion changes depending on the location – with Visayas having more than half of its Level 1 hospitals classified as publicly owned. As certain benefit packages are only made available in government-owned hospitals (Ulep, Uy, and Casas 2021), PhilHealth should endeavor to develop benefit packages responsive to the health needs of different subpopulations and available across hospital level and ownership, given that majority of accredited hospitals are privately-owned and private hospitals tend to have higher bed capacity.

Figure 9. Distribution of PHIC accredited hospitals, 2021



Source: Authors' analysis of merged data on PhilHealth Accredited Facilities

Our findings show marked disparities between provinces, based on poverty incidence, similar to findings in other countries that national health insurance coverage is limited in rural areas due to limited availability of services (Pratiwi et al. 2021) and having a lower proportion of accredited HCPs (Adewole et al. 2022). The limited number of accredited hospitals in the poorest provinces may also be an overall deficiency of hospitals since previous studies found that funds for health facility development are not necessarily allocated based on the needs of LGUs (Lavado et al. 2012) and or efficiency and equity of services for the target populations (L. J. Y. Flores et al. 2021; Lao, Paringit, and Roleda 2022). The lack of services and facilities covered by public health funds forces patients to spend on more expensive care and disproportionately reduces affordability of healthcare for lower income patients (Abiye, Tesfaye, and Hawaze 2013), warranting reforms to improve the methods to increase coverage of NHIP benefits by concurrently addressing gaps in membership and facility coverage.

	-			Governme	nt		P	Private	
			Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	All	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3
2018	Philippines	385 (34.87%)	321 (29.08%)	37 (3.35%)	27 (2.45%)	719 (65.13%)	426 (38.59%)	260 (23.55%)	33 (2.99%)
Total: 1104 (100%)	NCR, Reg III, Reg IVa	107 (9.69%)	94	6	7	286 (25.91%)	165	111	10
(100%)	Luzon	110 (9.96%)	91	12	7	143 (12.95%)	91	49	3
	Mindanao	88 (7.97%)	66	15	7	196 (17.75%)	129	62	5
	Visavas	80 (7.25%)	70	4	6	94 (8.51%)	41	38	15
2019	Philippines	387	323 (28.66%)	37	27 (2.4%)	740	437 (38 78%)	273 (24.22%)	30
Total: 1127	NCR, Reg III, Reg IVa	(9.67%)	96	6	7	(05.00%) 294 (26.09%)	167	118	9
(100%)	Luzon	108 (9.58%)	89	10	9	150 (13.31%)	96	51	3
	Mindanao	91 (8.07%)	70	16	5	199 (17.66%)	130	64	5
	Visavas	79 (7.01%)	68	5	6	97 (8.61%)	44	40	13
2020	Philippines	394 (34,26%)	329 (28.61%)	36 (3.13%)	29 (2.52%)	756 (65.74%)	447 (38.87%)	277 (24.09%)	32 (2.78%)
Total: 1150	NCR, Reg III, Reg IVa	112 (9.74%%)	98	5	9	299 (26%)	168	122	9
(100%)	Luzon	112 (9.74%)	92	11	9	149 (12.96%)	95	51	3
	Mindanao	90 (7.83%)	70	15	5	209 (18.17%)	141	63	5
	Visayas	80 (6.96%)	69	5	6	99 (8.61%)	43	41	15
2021	Philippines	395 (34.62%)	329 (28.83%)	37 (3.24%)	29 (2.54%)	746 (65.38%)	436 (38.21%)	277 (24.28%)	33 (2.89%)
Total: 1141	NCR, Reg III, Reg IVa	113 (9.9%)	100	5	8	295 (25.85%)	162	124	9
(100%)	Luzon	110 (9.64%)	89	12	9		92	51	3
	Mindanao	92 (8.06%)	71	15	6	208 (18.23%)	141	62	5
	Visayas	80 (7.01%)	69	5	6	97 (8.5%)	41	40	16

Table 7. Summary statistics on PhilHealth accredited hospitals per location, ownership,and level (2018-2021)

Source: Authors' analysis of data on PhilHealth Accredited Facilities. Note: The table only reflect the number of Levels 1, 2, and 3 hospitals, and does not include other health facility types such as infirmaries, MCP providers, and others.

4.3. Service coverage

Trends in service coverage and utilization were identified to distinguish differences in demand and quality of services across time and different provinces throughout the Philippines.

In the Philippines, NCR, Region III, and Region IVa have the largest proportion of all claims out of all island groups (34.76), followed by Mindanao (31.47), Luzon (13.77), and Visayas (12.18) (**Table 8**). The most prevalent GBD group, both nationally and across island groups, is the infectious, maternal, neonatal, and nutritional diseases, consisting of around 57.47 percent of all claims, followed by NCDs, consisting of around 39.22 percent of all claims. Both groups combined account for 96.69 percent of claims filed during 2018 to 2020.

		Share to total number of
		Claims (%)
NCR, Reg III, Reg IVa	All	34.76
	Infectious, Maternal, Neonatal, and	20.07
	Nutritional	
	NCDs	13.59
	Injuries	0.01
Luzon	All	13.77
	Infectious, Maternal, Neonatal, and	7.64
	Nutritional	
	NCDs	5.6
	Injuries	0.05
Mindanao	All	31.47
	Infectious, Maternal, Neonatal, and	17.58
	Nutritional	
	NCDs	12.85
	Injuries	1.05
Visayas	All	20
	Infectious, Maternal, Neonatal, and	12.18
	Nutritional	
	NCDs	7.18
	Injuries	0.6

Source: Authors' analysis of 2018-2021 PhilHealth eClaims data

In **Figure 10**, the spatial map shows inequity in the distribution of admission rates across provinces. Though admission rates per 1,000 population vary greatly between provinces across regions, the largest cluster of provinces with admission rates above 60 per 1,000 population are in Mindanao, namely Agusan del Norte, Cotabato, South Cotabato, Davao del Sur, Davao del Norte, Misamis Occidental, Misamis Oriental, Lanao del Norte, Sultan Kudarat, and Zamboanga del Norte. Among the aforementioned provinces, Davao del Norte (207.76), South Cotabato (119.69), and Misamis Occidental (107.35) had the highest admission rates per 1,000 population in the Philippines. In other island groups, Eastern Samar (69.79) in Visayas, and Kalinga (104.5) and Apayao (76.87) in Luzon also had admission rates exceeding 60 per 1,000 population.

Greater admission rates in more economically developed provinces may be due to increased transmissibility of infectious diseases in more densely populated areas, as urbanization and higher population density are associated with increased transmission of infectious diseases (Alirol et al. 2011; Hu, Nigmatulina, and Eckhoff 2013; Boyce, Katz, and Standley 2019). Modernization and economic development is associated with increasing risk factors, such as unhealthy diets and less physical activity (Habib and Saha 2010), and risk factors for NCDs are more prevalent in wealthier populations (Subramanian et al. 2013; Yin et al. 2017), which may also explain higher admission rates for NCDs in more economically developed areas. Certain injuries may also be more prevalent in urban populations, including transportation-related injuries and falls (Moshiro et al. 2005; Kobusingye, Guwatudde, and Lett 2001) but rural residents may also have a higher risk of injury-related mortality due to less accessibility of emergency services (Khorashadi et al. 2005; Y. Li et al. 2020). However, due to areas also having greater population density, the rate of admissions per 1,000 population may also be less, in comparison to other provinces with smaller populations but high admission rates.



Figure 10. Admission rates (per 1,000 population) in each province

Sources: Authors' analysis of merged data on PhilHealth eClaims and PSA 2020 Census on Population and Housing. Notes: Red and orange-shaded areas represent provinces with lower admission rates while the green-shaded areas are those values equal to or greater admission rates. Grey-shaded areas indicate that data the indicator was not computed due to data unavailability or failed data merging (e.g. Dinagat Islands). Davao del Sur was an outlier with admission rate of 207.76 per 1,000 population; legend and color scheme were adjusted to reflect this.

Admission rates and proxy measures of burden of disease were also observed to be high in provinces that can be considered less economically developed, particularly the provinces in Mindanao. The high admission rates, both in terms of raw claims count and admission rates, may be due to the lack of accessible healthcare affecting service utilization and filed claims for diseases across groups. Low availability of facilities other than hospitals forces the subpopulations to utilize services in hospitals, causing a rise in admission rates that may avoid

hospitalization through effective primary health care (PHC), even in poorer provinces (Ulep, Uy, and Casas 2020). Even if facilities and services are available and hospital bed density is high in some provinces that are less economically developed, low affordability and geographic accessibility of services may also force patients to forego seeking services altogether (Gao and Kelley 2019), suggesting that a reduction in claims amount does not necessarily mean that the health needs of the population are being met through effective and efficient service coverage (Uy et al. 2021; Ulep, Uy, and Casas 2020).

Subgroup analysis by membership category show that 57.1 percent of all claims were availed for indirect contributors, the majority across facilities (**Table 9**). Among indirect contributors, indigent members had the largest share of claims (25.74 percent). As indirect contributors consist of members that rely on government funding to finance their membership in the NHIP, this suggests that majority of national health insurance claims are directed towards members identified to be part of at-risk subpopulations. However, there are large differences between different membership subcategories for both direct and indirect contributors. The elderly members from both contributor categories, represented by Lifetime members and Senior Citizen, have the smallest shares out of all member subcategories. As both NCD incidence and healthcare expenditure is projected to increase for the elderly population and the poor and elderly experience greater unmet health needs and financial burden from healthcare costs in the Philippines (Abrigo 2019; Carandang et al 2019), this suggests that elderly members may utilize care less than other membership subcategories due to low affordability and higher proportion of hospital charges not covered by the national health insurance.

	All						
	Facilities	G	overnmei	nt		Private	
		Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 1	Level 2	Level
							3
Direct	42.9	23.5	23.1	30.5	48.4	66.3	74
Contributors							
Formal	24.03	10.83	9.75	14.35	27.39	40.14	50.93
Informal	15.53	11.61	12.14	14.36	17.26	20.02	18.5
Lifetime	3.34	1.11	1.22	1.82	3.75	6.15	7.54
Indirect	57.1	76.5	76.9	69.5	51.6	33.7	23
Contributors							
Indigent	25.74	37.86	40.38	24	27.35	11.73	4.24
Senior Citizen	15.62	13.02	11	12.44	19.37	18.9	17.14
Sponsored	15.74	25.58	25.5	33.02	4.88	3.05	1.65

Table 9. Share of claims (%) by membership categories, hospital ownership, and hospital level, 2018 to 2020

Source: Authors' analysis of 2018-2020 PhilHealth eClaims.

Further subgroup analyses by hospital ownership and level shows that a larger proportion of claims in government hospitals was availed by indirect contributors, while a larger proportion of claims in private hospitals was availed by direct contributors. consistent with findings across LMICS that private-owned facilities tend to have better availability and readiness (O'Neill et al. 2013). This finding is concerning, given the previous finding that most hospitals are

government-owned in poorer provinces. Furthermore, Ulep, Uy, and Casas (2021) found that the patients in richer wealth quintiles tend to utilize services in private hospitals. Higher income is associated with increased risk factors and prevalence for NCDs, although NCD-related mortality is higher among subpopulations with lower socioeconomic status (Subramanian et al. 2013; Yin et al. 2017), suggesting the greater share of NCD admissions may be due to the tendency of richer patients to utilize services of private hospitals. This is also supported by the finding that the share of claims for direct contributors rises alongside hospital level, while share for indirect contributors decreases as level rises. The trend of decreasing proportion of claims from indirect contributors may be due to lower affordability of specialized services provided at tertiary hospitals, as studies in other countries have found that national health insurance does not cover costs of all services from said hospitals (Xiong et al 2018).

When analyzing admission rates per 1,000 population alongside provincial poverty incidence, there is an inverse relation between provincial poverty incidence and admission rates per 1,000 population (coefficient: -0.4327; R-squared: 0.0295; P-value: 0.12) (Figure 11). Though the relationship is not significant, the direction of the relationship indicates that as poverty incidence increases, admission rates decrease. This trend may be due in part to this study and previous study findings of inequities in the accessibility of facilities in provinces with higher poverty incidence.





Source: Authors' analysis of merged data on PhilHealth eClaims data and PSA Poverty Incidence Statistics.

Government facility and service augmentation projects are not always allocated, based on the poverty incidence of provinces and municipalities (Lavado et al 2012) and there are large disparities between LGUs in terms of available human resource for health (HRH), facilities, and funds for providing primary care (Ulep, Uy, and Casas 2022). In the Philippines, population members from poor households are less likely to seek care due to the lack of perceived need to seek care, availability of high-quality services, and funding to pay for healthcare costs (Carandang et al 2019; Luu et al 2022). Barriers in the availability, accessibility, and affordability of services, in consideration to variations between members,

hospitals, and provinces must be addressed to ensure that target populations are being covered by essential healthcare services.

As NCDs can exert an enormous burden on the health systems of countries (World Health Organization 1999) and are expensive to treat (Subramanian et al 2018), admission rates for NCDs were further analyzed by province. A map of NCD admission rates per 1,000 population shows a similar trend to overall admission rates, with the largest cluster of NCD admission rates per 1,000 population in provinces in Mindanao (Figure 12). In addition to these provinces, Quezon (26.05) and Camarines Norte (26.51) in Luzon also had NCD admission rates higher than 25 per 1,000 population. High admission rates per 1,000 population across provinces in different regions and of different socioeconomic conditions suggests that NCDs is pervasive throughout the country. This could be due to common risk factors for NCDs across different subpopulations in the country, such as tobacco use, harmful alcohol consumption, excess weight, high blood pressure, and elevated blood glucose and cholesterol levels (Ezzati and Riboli 2013).



Figure 12. Admission rates for NCDs (per 1,000 population) in each province

Sources: Authors' analysis of merged data on PhilHealth eClaims, GBD disease groups, and PSA 2020 Census on Population and Housing. Notes: Davao del Sur was an outlier with admission rate of 90.12 per 1,000 population; legend and color scheme were adjusted to reflect this (map on the right).

Sustainable Development Goal 3.4 sets the global public health goal of reducing premature mortality due to NCDs among people aged 70 years old and younger by one third between 2015 and 2030 (Adair 2018). To achieve this goal, strong PHC is imperative to prevent and manage NCDs before the development of any further complications (World Health Organization 2011; Demaio et al. 2014) for age groups younger than the elderly. A subgroup

analysis of admission rates by different life stage groups reveals that adults aged 20-59 years old had the highest admission rates per 1,000 population and share of NCD claims, followed by the elderly aged 60 years and above, children and adolescents aged 5-19 years, and children aged 4 years and below (Table 10). This finding is of great concern, as the higher demand for NCD admissions amongst young and middle-aged adults may suggest that there are challenges that hinder the effectiveness and efficiency of approaches to prevent early onset of NCDs and improve access to NCD services for the elderly in the country, also taken in consideration with the previous finding that Lifetime and Senior Citizen members have the lowest shares of claims. This is supported by previous studies in the Philippines suggesting the lack of available, accessible, affordable, and high-quality primary health care for NCDs (Ulep, Uy, and Casas 2021; Higuchi 2009). Extensive health system reforms are required to strengthen PHC to address the burden of NCDs on populations younger than 60 years old.

Table	e 10. Admission	n rate and sl	hare to to	tal admissio	ons for NC	Ds by age	group	, 2018 to
2020								

	Admission rate (per	Share to Total Number of Claims
	1,000)	(%)
0-4 years	4.43	10.87
5-19 years	4.94	12.12
20-59 years	16.72	41.03
60 years and above	14.66	35.98

Source: Authors' analysis of 2018-2020 PhilHealth eClaims data

Ambulatory-care sensitive conditions

Ambulatory-care sensitive conditions (ACSC) are conditions that, in theory, do not need hospital admissions if primary health care is effective in prevention and early management of diseases before they become more complicated or grow in severity (Billings et al. 1993). If PHC is effective, hospital admission rates for low risk and uncomplicated ACSC should shift demand for healthcare to outpatient and preventive services as high hospital admissions may indicate ineffective and inefficient PHC (Purdy et al. 2009). It is desirable to reduce ACSC admission rates since hospitalizations are more expensive, both directly (actual cost of services) and indirectly (loss of income due to hospitalization, travel costs) for both patients and health systems and reducing admissions leads to greater cost savings from avoided inpatient admissions (Galarraga, Mutter, and Pines 2015; Dimitrovová et al. 2017) (Figure 13).



Figure 13. Ambulatory-care sensitive conditions and Health Systems

Source: Created by authors.

ACSCs include (1) respiratory conditions such as asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and pneumonia; (2) maternal and child health conditions such as nutritional deficiencies, gastroenteritis, and urinary tract infection; (3) noncommunicable diseases such as hypertension, and diabetes mellitus; and (4) vaccine-preventable diseases, including influenza and measles.

When analyzing admission rates by ACSC and non-ACSC, about 33 percent of admission rates are considered ACSC, meaning that this percentage is considered avoidable if PHC in the country was effective and efficient (**Table 11**).

	Average Number of Claims	Share to Total Number of
		Claims (%)
ACSC	2,712,008	33.61
Non - ACSC	5,357,790	66.39

 Table 11. Average number of ACSC claims and share to total admissions, 2018 to 2020

Source: Authors' analysis of 2018-2021 PhilHealth eClaims data

The spatial map of ACSC admission rates per 1,000 population indicates that the provinces with highest admission rates, with rates higher than 25 per 1,000 population, are in Mindanao, particularly the provinces Cotabato, South Cotabato, Davao del Sur, Lanao del Norte, Misamis Occidental, Sultan Kudarat, and Zamboanga del Sur (**Figure 14**). Additionally, Eastern Samar in Visayas (31.26) and Kalinga in Luzon (34.67) had ACSC admission rates higher than 25 per 1,000 population.





Sources: Authors' analysis of merged data on PhilHealth eClaims and PSA 2020 Census on Population and Housing. Notes: Davao del Sur was an outlier with admission rate of 76.91 per 1,000 population; legend and color scheme were adjusted to reflect this.

The greater admission rates in the aforementioned provinces may be due to hospitals being more accessible than primary health care providers in these provinces, leading to greater demand for hospital services, even if hospitalizations for ACSC are theoretically avoidable. In the Philippines, both longer travel time to HCPs and socioeconomic status are associated with higher risk of disease (Leining et al. 2020). Lack of accessible infrastructure and services in the country leads to unmet health needs and an increased financial burden for vulnerable populations, such as the poor elderly and women. (Carandang et al. 2019; Luu et al. 2022). Coupled with the maldistribution of primary care facilities prevalent throughout the country (Ulep, Uy, and Casas 2020; L. J. Y. Flores et al. 2021), this may lead to an increased demand for hospital services among subpopulations in poorer provinces.

However, since claims are not completely reflective of population health needs (e.g. Ulep et al 2021), it is also possible that low ACSC admissions rates may not be due to increased accessibility or quality of PHC, since lack of availability and affordability of services in provinces may also lead to patients forgoing care altogether and lower admission rates. Similar studies on ACSC admission rates in other countries found that both low socioeconomic status of patients and accessibility of healthcare providers are significant predictors of admission rates for ACSC (Magalhães and Morais Neto 2017; Huang, Meyer, and Jin 2018; Wallar, De Prophetis, and Rosella 2020). Based on findings from the current study and previous studies, issues in the availability, quality, and equity of PHC must be addressed in provinces that have a high proportion of at-risk subpopulations to reduce the risk of adverse health outcomes and costs attributable to ACSC.

		Admission rate (per	Share to Total Number of
		1,000)	Claims (%)
	All	9.54	29.17
0-4 years	Female	4.34	13.27
	Male	5.2	15.9
	All	4.48	13.68
5-19 years	Female	2.34	7.15
	Male	2.14	6.53
	All	8.74	26.7
20-59 years	Female	5.05	15.43
	Male	3.69	11.27
	All	9.96	30.45
60 years and	Female	5.8	17.73
above	Male	4.16	12.72

Table 12. Admission rate and share to total admissions for ACSCs by age group and sex,2018 to 2020

Source: Authors' analysis of 2018-2020 PhilHealth eClaims data

When analyzing ACSC admission rates and share of claims by age group, the top three admission rates and share of claims are for the females aged 60 years and above (admission rate: 5.8; Share of claims: 17.73), followed by males aged below 4 years (admission rate: 5.2; Share of claims: 15.9), and females aged 20-59 years (admission rate: 5.05; Share of claims: 15.43) (**Table 12**). ACSC admission rates and share of claims were higher for females aged 5 years and older. The current results are similar to findings in other countries that ACSC admission rates are highest for children under the age of 10 years and the elderly older than 60 years, with infectious ACSC being more prevalent in children and noncommunicable ACSC in the elderly (Magalhães and Morais Neto 2017; Santos et al 2022), and higher for female populations (Souza and Peixoto 2017). Policies and investments aiming to reduce ACSC admissions and increase the accessibility of PHC should be sensitive to the higher vulnerability of women, children, and the elderly among the population to ACSC to maximize effectiveness, efficiency, and equity of reforms.

4.4. Financial risk protection

For the entire Philippine population, the average support value is 55.83 percent. Although majority of charges are covered on average, the NHIP does not cover more than a 40 percent of charges for hospital services, suggesting that OOP and other sources of expenditure are required to pay for hospital charges. Furthermore, huge disparities are observed when disaggregating support value by member type (**Table 13**). Average support value is highest for provinces within Visayas, followed by Luzon, Mindanao, and the NCR, Region III, and Region IVa group (**Table 13**).

	Average support value (%)
Philippines	55.83
NCR, Reg III, Reg IVa	50.17
Luzon	58.63
Visayas	59.7
Mindanao	54.8

Table 13. Average support value by location, 2018 to 2021

Source: Authors' analysis of 2018-2021 PhilHealth eClaims.

On average, indirect contributors have lower support value than direct contributors (Table 14). This could partially be due to indirect contributors having a greater share of claims and admission rates influencing the support value of claims, especially when a large amount of admissions for NCDs occur in provinces that consist mostly of indirect contributors. However, there is less variation in support value across subcategories for indirect contributors, suggesting that the NHIP provides more consistent coverage of at-risk subpopulations. This could partially be due to certain benefit packages, such as the Primary Care Benefit (PCB) package being offered only to indigent and sponsored beneficiaries (Ulep et al 2021). However, subgroup analysis reveals more apparent differences between membership subcategories. Elderly members, represented by lifetime direct contributors and senior citizen members in the indirect contributor category, have the lowest support value. This is concerning, given that the Philippine population is aging, and that the elderly tend to have less income than other age groups and are more vulnerable to chronic NCDs. Alongside the current study finding that elderly members have the lowest share of claims and findings from other studies in the country that the elderly have the largest health expenses out of all age groups that is projected to increase alongside growing incidence of NCDs (Abrigo 2019) and that poor and elderly experience greater unmet health needs and financial burden from healthcare costs (Carandang et al 2019), this suggests that support value for elderly subpopulations throughout the country must be improved through realignment of pooling and purchasing functions of national health insurance.

Subgroup analyses by hospital ownership and level reveal that the average support value is lower for all members receiving health services in Level 3 hospitals relative to other hospital levels; with higher financial risk for those seeking care in private-owned hospitals than government-owned facilities (**Table 14**). For all member categories, less than 45 percent of hospital charges are covered in private hospitals that are Level 3. These results are similar to findings in other countries that national health insurance tends to have lower coverage of costs incurred in tertiary hospitals due to not covering all specialized services (Xiong et al 2018) and patient costs being higher in private than public-owned hospitals, due to varying levels of mark-ups in charges (Subramanian et al. 2013).

	Government					Pri	vate	
	All	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	All	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3
Direct Contributors	66.41	72.38	65.99	60.84	44.45	53.57	42.77	37.02
Formal	69.35	74.72	70.06	63.27	45.56	54.73	43.41	38.55
Informal	67.25	73.72	66.99	61.05	47.11	56.1	45.86	39.37
Lifetime	62.61	68.71	60.93	58.2	40.69	49.89	39.03	33.15
Indirect Contributors	64.53	64.69	64.69	64.21	49.54	69.68	56.55	43.35
Indigent	65.59	65.55	65.55	65.66	56.53	69.68	56.55	43.35
Senior Citizen	63.12	63.8	63.8	61.77	41.84	52.45	39.85	33.23
Sponsored	64.87	64.71	64.71	65.19	50.24	61.97	48.09	40.67

Table 14. Average support value (%) by membership categories, hospital ownership, and hospital level, 2018 to 2021

Source: Authors' analysis of 2018-2021 PhilHealth eClaims.

Furthermore, support value is also shown to vary between types of patient accommodation across ownership. On average, patients who are admitted in private rooms have less support value than those admitted to wards (**Table 15**). This is due to private rooms being more expensive than wards. Given that private accommodation allow for more controlled patient care environments (Van Enk, Richard, and Steinberg 2011) and better outcomes for certain types of care, such as maternal and neonatal care (Domanico et al 2011), affordability of private accommodation for special or intensive cases should be improved, while also enhancing the effectiveness and efficiency of care provided in wards should also be improved to reduce cost of resource utilization and patient charges for less complicated cases.

	Government		Privat	e
	Private Room	Ward	Private Room	Ward
Philippines	60.93	70.46	46.69	58.43
NCR, Reg III, Reg IVa	60.69	73.77	39.35	44.8
Luzon	60.76	74.5	48.94	62.81
Visayas	58.8	62.7	55.42	69.27
Mindanao	63.45	70.87	43.06	56.82

Table 15. Average support value (%) by location, hospital ownership, and patient accommodation, 2018 to 2021

Source: Authors' analysis of 2018-2021 PhilHealth eClaims.

Trends at the national and island group level also mask disparities between provinces. Majority of provinces in the country have less than 70 percent average support value, suggesting large variation across provinces in different regions (**Figure 15**). Support value is lower than 55 percent in provinces that consist mostly of indirect contributors, such as Lanao del Norte (54.11

%), Misamis Oriental (51.42 %), Agusan del Norte (47.11%), Surigao del Norte (51.05%) in Mindanao, Bohol (54.02 %) and Leyte (50.29 %) in Visayas, and Camarines Sur (50.58 %) and Albay (48.24 %) in Luzon, suggesting that financial risk is higher in these provinces due to majority of the population having less income to pay for healthcare. However, the average support value is even low in certain higher-income provinces where hospitals are more accessible, such as NCR, Batangas, Laguna, and Cavite. Facilities may be accessible to most of the population in an area, but service coverage may be limited by the costs of services (Lawal and Anyiam 2019). Facilities tend to be less available in rural areas but more expensive in urban areas (Y. Li et al. 2020). Furthermore, national health insurance usually does not cover the costs of all services in tertiary hospitals (Xiong et al 2019), increasing the financial risk of populations who utilize services at these facilities. Low support value in richer provinces suggests that services are less affordable due to patient costs not being sufficiently covered by the NHIP benefits.

The data also shows that multiple provinces with low overall admission rates per 1,000 population have support values below 50 percent, such as the districts in NCR (38-43%), Batangas (46.23%), Laguna (39.83%), Cavite (40.92%), Rizal (49.22%), Bulacan (48.14%), Abra (37.59%), Benguet (48.39%), La Union (48.75%), and Albay (48.24%). This suggests that low admission rates may also be influenced by low financial coverage and reliance on OOP expenditure and other sources of financing to pay for healthcare. This is supported by findings across LMICs that both direct (services feeds, drugs, other supplies), and indirect costs (transport, loss of income due to sickness) are perceived as expensive and discourage utilization of services, with tertiary hospitals often deferred by poorer populations (Grimes et al. 2011), even when they are aware of the health risks of foregoing care (Luong et al. 2007; Waiswa et al. 2008; Shafiq, Shaikh, and Kumar 2011). National health insurance coverage is limited by the services and HCPs available in different locations and lack of availability can exacerbate the financial burden of patients (Pratiwi et al. 2021; Adewole et al. 2022). Low admission rates, paired with low support value suggest that there are unmet health needs within the population due to the low accessibility of services.





Source: Authors' analysis of 2018-2021 PhilHealth eClaims data.

In countries where OOP spending is a major source of household health expenditure, the risk of catastrophic expenditure is greater for populations with less income and financial resources, such as rural, elderly, and female populations (Goudge et al. 2009; Tibebe et al. 2012; Long et al. 2013; Y. Li et al. 2020). In the Philippines, the burden of healthcare costs varies across age, sex, location, and socioeconomic status, with the financial risk being greater for the elderly, women, rural, and poorer subpopulations (Carandang et al. 2019; Luu et al. 2022), emphasizing the importance of social determinants when analyzing support value and in ensuring equitable resource distribution.

Variations in support value for diseases with the highest claims amount are also observed (Table 16). Majority of diseases on the top 15 list are infectious, maternal, neonatal, and nutritional diseases, with only three diseases in the NCD group. However, the average support value of the two groups is similar among the diseases in the list. This is due in part to the variability in support value between diseases, even in the same GBD group with commonly associated causes and risk factors. For example, the support value for stroke, the disease with the fifth highest total claims amount, has a support value of 53.52 percent but the support value for other NCDs, including primary hypertension, chronic kidney disease, ischemic heart disease, asthma, diabetes mellitus, and other cardiovascular and circulatory diseases is below 50 percent, even if all are considered NCDs and some have common risk factors (Adisasmito et al 2020). It is concerning that fourteen of the fifteen diseases with the highest claims amount, on average, covered less than 50 percent of total hospital charges, suggesting that majority of hospital charges for diseases are still financed by OOP expenditure across diseases, even when said diseases have the highest reimbursement amounts. These results are in line with a recent study that suggests that OOP expenses are a major source of primary health care expenditure, given that majority of diseases with the highest total claims amount are preventable and manageable at the primary health care level (Ulep et al 2021).

The large variation in support value across diseases and the considerable portion of charges that are not covered by the NHIP across diseases suggests the need for a strategic shift in the purchasing of services and reassessment of revenue generation functions to ensure that there are enough funds to reimburse all diseases that PhilHealth offers benefit packages for. The development and adoption of provider payment methods that incentivize increased accessibility and ensure the quality of services most needed by different subpopulations are required. The transition to case-based methods, such as diagnosis-related groups (DRGs), which group all patient costs into clinically meaningful and economically homogeneous groups may assist in reducing gaps in support value between different diseases by (1) standardizing payments for different diseases across hospitals, (2) encouraging efficient utilization of resources through limiting unnecessary services and length of stay, and (3) improving quality of care through thorough assessment of care processes and complications for patients within groups (Busse et al. 2013; Chiang, Chu, and Romeis 2015).

	Total adjusted	Total adjusted	Average
	claims amount	claims charge	support value
	(billion PHP)	(billion PHP)	(%)
Lower respiratory tract infection	21.8	44.54	48.93
Maternal and child care	7.57	16.96	44.63
Dengue	7.34	16.2	45.32
Neonatal disorders	6.68	14.61	45.73
Stroke*	6.33	11.83	53.52
Urinary diseases and male infertility	5.82	14.2	41
Diarrheal diseases	5.6	9.88	43.57
Primary hypertension*	5.05	9.08	43.28
Chronic kidney disease*	3.74	8.27	39.61
Upper digestive system disorders	3.07	7.22	42.58
Ischemic heart disease*	2.65	7.03	37.73
Asthma*	2.41	5.22	46.05
Other cardiovascular and circulatory diseases*	2.16	5.32	40.54
Diabetes Mellitus*	1.83	5.01	36.5
Maternal disorders	1.71	4.02	42.5

Table 16. Adjusted claims amount, claims charge, and average support value for top 15 GBD sub-groups in claims amount, 2018 - 2021

Source: Authors' analysis of 2018-2021 PhilHealth eClaims data. Note: Diseases marked in * are classified as a noncommunicable disesase (NCD). All claims for each GBD sub-group with support value above 100% were excluded.

5. Conclusion and policy recommendations

The trends presented in this study elucidated challenges that the Philippine health system is currently facing as evidenced by the clear disparities in (1) population coverage, (2) facility coverage, (3) service coverage, and (4) financial protection across different subpopulations. Despite modest improvements in health outcomes, inequities continue to exist due to unresolved challenges in access to healthcare. This includes the physical constraints due to lack of health facilities, along with the financial risks of catastrophic health expenses especially for vulnerable populations. Another possible source of the observed disparities could be demand related. In other words, there may be differences across different subpopulations in terms of awareness or knowledgeable of the health services being offered within their area. Based on the Tanahashi (1978) framework, the inequities observed in availability and accessibility are expected to affect how the issues identified in service coverage and financial risk protection are addressed.

This study demonstrates the value of using spatiotemporal analysis in identifying disparities in accessibility and service coverage. For instance, maximizing information on geolocation allowed us to produce more location-specific insights at the provincial level, thereby providing increased precision in terms of creating distinct, targeted policies on health service coverage. With the inclusion of the geographic dimension in the analysis, the study was able to go beyond the usual descriptive analysis (e.g. by membership category, facility characteristics, disease groups). Analyses by geographic location that considers different social determinants of health and datasets should be standardized by policy makers to ensure accurate, responsive, and nuanced assessments of both national and local health systems towards UHC. These include the implementation of PSA PSGC codes across datasets to standardize geographic data being referenced. Setting data encoding and validation measures for healthcare institution codes, membership IDs, sex, and age would reduce the risk of invalid or null data entries for required data for subgroup analyses and would allow for direct comparison of these factors across different datasets. Leveraging the databases from other NGAs for key public programs, such as the PSA Philippine Identification System (PhilSys), DOH Health Facilities and Services Regulation program, and DOH Medical Assistance Program (MAP) and harmonizing data standards used across all programs will allow for clear and quick merging of datasets to enable more comprehensive, higher quality, and holistic monitoring and evaluation of health reforms of population, health facility data, and financial management data.

Improving administrative process for membership enrollment, especially for priority areas in Mindanao can help PhilHealth update its registered beneficiaries database, allowing for better monitoring of its performance in terms of population coverage. There may be process inefficiencies in the classification and enrolment of indigent and sponsored members under the NHIP that limit membership coverage, even when annual subsidies for said subpopulations are increasing (Kimwell et al 2022). It is imperative for PhilHealth, in collaboration with other government agencies, to ensure the accuracy, validity, and consistency of data on indigents at both national and sub-national levels to improve equity of healthcare throughout the country. For example, provinces in Mindanao with lower membership (Maguindanao, Lanao del Sur, Basilan, Sulu and Tawi-Tawi) may have lower membership rates due to enrolment not being adjusted to the socioeconomic conditions of the aforementioned provinces.

In areas with low hospital bed density and high general admission rates, such as Zamboanga del Norte, and ACSC admission rates, such as Eastern Samar, it is important to increase accessibility of primary care services, as the low accessibility of hospitals necessitates increasing population covered by essential services outside of hospitals for the detection and management of diseases. For provinces with high admission rates and greater hospital bed density, but low support value, such as Agusan del Norte, Cotabato, South Cotabato, Davao del Norte, Davao del Sur, Lanao del Norte, and Zamboanga del Sur in Mindanao, provinces with higher shares of indirect contributors and poverty incidence, and even in provinces with higher share of direct contributors and lower poverty incidence, such as the NCR, Batangas, Laguna, Cavite, and Rizal in Luzon, it is important to increase the accessibility of PHC to increase financial protection of the populations within the provinces. PhilHealth and DOH, as the national health purchaser and health regulatory body, should coordinate initiatives, such as the development of outpatient benefit packages and deployment programs to augment facilities, HRH, and quality of primary health care services outside of hospitals in aforementioned provinces to address issues that may arise from different dimensions of service coverage. For provinces with low availability of primary care facilities, adjustments in contracting healthcare providers under NHIP can help expand the scope of available services.

Investments geared towards improving health literacy and knowledge about the NHIP, especially in areas identified to have high admission rates, can minimize the geographical inequities in health coverage. Patient knowledge of diseases and services is positively associated with willingness to utilize disease prevention services, such as Mass Drug Administration and immunization (Amarillo et al. 2008; Sumile et al. 2020). Conversely, lack of knowledge on diseases, treatments, services, and PhilHealth insurance coverage (Higuchi 2010) may lead to inconsistent utilization and continuity of care. Even if this study did not explicitly investigate the influence of patient knowledge on selected indicators, the lack of knowledge about benefits packages, accredited facilities, availability of outpatient providers, and general practices to prevent diseases should be considered, as these can all influence the demand and utilization of services provided by PhilHealth.

Given the findings of inverse correlations between membership, hospital beds, and claims amounts, PhilHealth, DOH, and other NGAs should standardize the usage of equity measures, such as the use of poverty incidence, in national allocation and prioritization frameworks of projects and activities to ensure efficiency and equity across health programs. As national health insurance coverage is limited by the services and HCPs available in different locations and lack of availability can exacerbate the financial burden of patients (Pratiwi et al. 2021; Adewole et al. 2022), and low affordability and geographic accessibility of services may also force patients to forego seeking services altogether (Gao and Kelley 2019), provinces with lower support value and higher poverty incidence such as Agusan del Norte, Cotabato, South Cotabato, Davao del Norte, Davao del Sur, Davao de Oro, and Zamboanga del Sur, should be addressed collaboratively to holistically address barriers in service coverage pertaining to availability, accessibility, affordability, and quality of services.

To facilitate all these reforms, PhilHealth, DOH, and other relevant stakeholders should synergize efforts to facilitate the integration of healthcare under unified province-/city-wide healthcare provider networks stipulated in the UHC Act.

- Ensure that LGUs and HCPs, both public and private, within provinces are capacitated, having mechanisms to effectively coordinate service delivery and refer patients to appropriate levels of care.
- Expand breadth, depth, and accessibility of primary care services to improve efficiency and equity of local health systems.
- Strengthening PhilHealth functions, as the national health purchaser, and harmonizing functions of DOH and other government agencies to ensure they are complementary to, rather than fragmented from, PhilHealth's main functions and objectives.

6. Bibliography

- Abiye, Zelalem, Amene Tesfaye, and Segekwal Hawaze. 2013. "Barriers to Access: Availability and Affordability of Essential Drugs in a Retail Outlet of a Public Health Center in South Western Ethiopia" 3 (10): 1011–1105.
- Abrigo, Michael R.M. 2019. "Financing Universal Health Care in an Ageing Philippines." *Philippine Institute for Development Studies*, PIDS Discussion Paper Series, 2019 (23): 32.
- Adair, Tim. 2018. "Progress towards Reducing Premature NCD Mortality." *The Lancet Global Health* 6 (12): e1254–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(18)30473-X.
- Adewole, David A, Steve Reid, Tolu Oni, and Ayo S Adebowale. 2022. "Geospatial Distribution and Bypassing Health Facilities among National Health Insurance Scheme Enrollees: Implications for Universal Health Coverage in Nigeria." *International Health* 14 (3): 260–70. https://doi.org/10.1093/inthealth/ihab039.
- Adisasmito, Wiku, Vilda Amir, Anila Atin, Amila Megraini, and Dian Kusuma. 2020. "Geographic and Socioeconomic Disparity in Cardiovascular Risk Factors in Indonesia: Analysis of the Basic Health Research 2018." *BMC Public Health* 20 (1): 1004. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-09099-1.
- Alirol, Emilie, Laurent Getaz, Beat Stoll, François Chappuis, and Louis Loutan. 2011. "Urbanisation and Infectious Diseases in a Globalised World." *The Lancet Infectious Diseases* 11 (2): 131–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(10)70223-1.
- Al-Taiar, Abdullah, Allan Clark, Joseph C Longenecker, and Christopher JM Whitty. 2010.
 "Physical Accessibility and Utilization of Health Services in Yemen." *International Journal of Health Geographics* 9 (1): 38. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-072X-9-38.
- Amarillo, Maria Lourdes E, Vicente Y Belizario, Jewel T Sadiang-abay, Stephanie Anne M Sison, and Ariane Marie S Dayag. 2008. "Factors Associated with the Acceptance of Mass Drug Administration for the Elimination of Lymphatic Filariasis in Agusan Del Sur, Philippines." *Parasites & Vectors* 1 (1): 14. https://doi.org/10.1186/1756-3305-1-14.
- Anselmi, Laura, Mylène Lagarde, and Kara Hanson. 2015. "Health Service Availability and Health Seeking Behaviour in Resource Poor Settings: Evidence from Mozambique." *Health Economics Review* 5 (1): 26. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13561-015-0062-6.
- Banaag, Miann S., Manuel M. Dayrit, and Ronald U. Mendoza. 2019. "Health Inequity in the Philippines." In *Disease, Human Health, and Regional Growth and Development in Asia*, edited by Amitrajeet A. Batabyal, Yoshiro Higano, and Peter Nijkamp, 163–74. Singapore: Springer Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-6268-2_8.
- Becker, Nora V., Monita Karmakar, Renuka Tipirneni, and John Z. Ayanian. 2022. "Trends in Hospitalizations for Ambulatory Care–Sensitive Conditions during the COVID-19 Pandemic." JAMA Network Open 5 (3): e222933. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.2933.
- Billings, John, Lisa Zeitel, Joanne Lukomnik, Timothy S. Carey, Arthur E. Blank, and Laurie Newman. 1993. "Impact of Socioeconomic Status on Hospital Use in New York City." *Health Affairs* 12 (1): 162–73. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.12.1.162.
- Bitton, Asaf, Jocelyn Fifield, Hannah Ratcliffe, Ami Karlage, Hong Wang, Jeremy H Veillard, Dan Schwarz, and Lisa R Hirschhorn. 2019. "Primary Healthcare System Performance in Low-Income and Middle-Income Countries: A Scoping Review of the Evidence from 2010 to 2017." *BMJ Global Health* 4 (Suppl 8): e001551. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2019-001551.

- Blanford, Justine I, Supriya Kumar, Wei Luo, and Alan M MacEachren. 2012. "It's a Long, Long Walk: Accessibility to Hospitals, Maternity and Integrated Health Centers in Niger." *International Journal of Health Geographics* 11 (1): 24. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-072X-11-24.
- Boyce, Matthew R., Rebecca Katz, and Claire J. Standley. 2019. "Risk Factors for Infectious Diseases in Urban Environments of Sub-Saharan Africa: A Systematic Review and Critical Appraisal of Evidence." *Tropical Medicine and Infectious Disease* 4 (4): 123. https://doi.org/10.3390/tropicalmed4040123.
- Busse, R., A. Geissler, A. Aaviksoo, F. Cots, U. Hakkinen, C. Kobel, C. Mateus, et al. 2013.
 "Diagnosis Related Groups in Europe: Moving towards Transparency, Efficiency, and Quality in Hospitals?" *BMJ* 346 (jun07 3): f3197–f3197. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.f3197.
- Carandang, Rogie Royce, Edward Asis, Akira Shibanuma, Junko Kiriya, Hiroshi Murayama, and Misamine Jimba. 2019. "Unmet Needs and Coping Mechanisms among Community-Dwelling Senior Citizens in the Philippines: A Qualitative Study." *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 16 (19): 3745. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16193745.
- Carvalho Dutra, Amanda de, Lincoln Luís Silva, Raíssa Bocchi Pedroso, Yolande Pokam Tchuisseu, Mariana Teixeira da Silva, Marcela Bergamini, João Felipe Hermann Costa Scheidt, et al. 2021. "The Impact of Socioeconomic Factors, Coverage and Access to Health on Heart Ischemic Disease Mortality in a Brazilian Southern State: A Geospatial Analysis." *Global Heart* 16 (1): 5. https://doi.org/10.5334/gh.770.
- Chan, Ta-Chien, Po-Huang Chiang, Ming-Daw Su, Hsuan-Wen Wang, and Michael Shi-yung Liu. 2014. "Geographic Disparity in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) Mortality Rates among the Taiwan Population." Edited by Oliver Schildgen. *PLoS ONE* 9 (5): e98170. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0098170.
- Chiang, Chia-Yu, Hsuan-Lien Chu, and James C Romeis. 2015. "The Effect of Physicians' Financial Incentives on the Diagnosis Related Group-Based Prospective Reimbursement Scheme in Taiwan." *Health Services Management Research* 28 (3–4): 67–75. https://doi.org/10.1177/0951484815616827.
- Couillard, Benjamin K., Christopher L. Foote, Kavish Gandhi, Ellen Meara, and Jonathan Skinner. 2021. "Rising Geographic Disparities in U.S. Mortality." *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 35 (4): 123–46. https://doi.org/10.1257/jep.35.4.123.
- Curtis, Andrew, Jean-Pierre Monet, Michel Brun, Issa Abdou-Kérim Bindaoudou, Idrissou Daoudou, Marta Schaaf, Yawo Agbigbi, and Nicolas Ray. 2021. "National Optimisation of Accessibility to Emergency Obstetrical and Neonatal Care in Togo: A Geospatial Analysis." *BMJ Open* 11 (7): e045891. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-045891.
- Dayrit, Manuel M., Liezel P. Lagrada, Oscar F. Picazo, Melahi C. Pons, and Mario C. Villaverde. 2018. *The Philippines Health System Review*. Vol. 8. Health Systems in Transition 2. New Delhi: World Health Organization, Regional Office for Southeast Easia. https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/274579/9789290226734-eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y.
- Demaio, Alessandro R., Karoline Kragelund Nielsen, Britt Pinkowski Tersbøl, Per Kallestrup, and Dan W. Meyrowitsch. 2014. "Primary Health Care: A Strategic Framework for the Prevention and Control of Chronic Non-Communicable Disease." *Global Health Action* 7 (1): 24504. https://doi.org/10.3402/gha.v7.24504.

- Dimitrovová, Klára, Cláudia Costa, Paula Santana, and Julian Perelman. 2017. "Evolution and Financial Cost of Socioeconomic Inequalities in Ambulatory Care Sensitive Conditions: An Ecological Study for Portugal, 2000–2014." *International Journal for Equity in Health* 16 (1): 145. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-017-0642-7.
- Domanico, R., Davis, D. K., Coleman, F., & Davis, B. O. (2011). Documenting the NICU design dilemma: comparative patient progress in open-ward and single family room units. Journal of Perinatology, 31(4), 281-288.
- Ezzati, Majid, and Elio Riboli. 2013. "Behavioral and Dietary Risk Factors for Noncommunicable Diseases." *New England Journal of Medicine* 369 (10): 954–64. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra1203528.
- Flores, Gabriela, and Owen O'Donnell. 2016. "Catastrophic Medical Expenditure Risk." *Journal of Health Economics* 46 (March): 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhealeco.2016.01.004.
- Flores, Lorenzo Jaime Yu, Ramon Rafael Tonato, Gabrielle Ann dela Paz, and Valerie Gilbert Ulep. 2021. "Optimizing Health Facility Location for Universal Health Care: A Case Study from the Philippines." Edited by Ghaffar Ali. *PLOS ONE* 16 (9): e0256821. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0256821.
- Friel, Sharon, and Michael G. Marmot. 2011. "Action on the Social Determinants of Health and Health Inequities Goes Global." *Annual Review of Public Health* 32 (1): 225–36. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-031210-101220.
- Galarraga, Jessica E., Ryan Mutter, and Jesse M. Pines. 2015. "Costs Associated with Ambulatory Care Sensitive Conditions Across Hospital-Based Settings." Edited by Sandra Schneider. *Academic Emergency Medicine* 22 (2): 172–81. https://doi.org/10.1111/acem.12579.
- Gao, Xing, and David Wayne Kelley. 2019. "Understanding How Distance to Facility and Quality of Care Affect Maternal Health Service Utilization in Kenya and Haiti: A Comparative Geographic Information System Study." *Geospatial Health* 14 (1). https://doi.org/10.4081/gh.2019.690.
- Gibbons, Daniel C, Andrew B Bindman, Michael A Soljak, Christopher Millett, and Azeem Majeed. 2012. "Defining Primary Care Sensitive Conditions: A Necessity for Effective Primary Care Delivery?" *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine* 105 (10): 422–28. https://doi.org/10.1258/jrsm.2012.120178.
- Goudge, Jane, Lucy Gilson, Steven Russell, Tebogo Gumede, and Anne Mills. 2009. "Affordability, Availability and Acceptability Barriers to Health Care for the Chronically Ill: Longitudinal Case Studies from South Africa." *BMC Health Services Research* 9 (1): 75. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-9-75.
- Grimes, Caris E., Kendra G. Bowman, Christopher M. Dodgion, and Christopher B. D. Lavy. 2011. "Systematic Review of Barriers to Surgical Care in Low-Income and Middle-Income Countries." World Journal of Surgery 35 (5): 941–50. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00268-011-1010-1.
- Habib, Samira Humaira, and Soma Saha. 2010. "Burden of Non-Communicable Disease: Global Overview." *Diabetes & Metabolic Syndrome: Clinical Research & Reviews* 4 (1): 41–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsx.2008.04.005.
- Higuchi, Michiyo. 2010. "Access to Diabetes Care and Medicines in the Philippines." *Asia Pacific Journal of Public Health* 22 (3_suppl): 96S-102S. https://doi.org/10.1177/1010539510373005.
- Hu, Hao, Karima Nigmatulina, and Philip Eckhoff. 2013. "The Scaling of Contact Rates with Population Density for the Infectious Disease Models." *Mathematical Biosciences* 244 (2): 125–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mbs.2013.04.013.

- Huang, Yuxia, Pamela Meyer, and Lei Jin. 2018. "Neighborhood Socioeconomic Characteristics, Healthcare Spatial Access, and Emergency Department Visits for Ambulatory Care Sensitive Conditions for Elderly." *Preventive Medicine Reports* 12 (December): 101–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmedr.2018.08.015.
- Jacobs, Bart, Por Ir, Maryam Bigdeli, Peter Leslie Annear, and Wim Van Damme. 2012. "Addressing Access Barriers to Health Services: An Analytical Framework for Selecting Appropriate Interventions in Low-Income Asian Countries." *Health Policy* and Planning 27 (4): 288–300. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czr038.
- Juran, Sabrina, P. Niclas Broer, Stefanie J. Klug, Rachel C. Snow, Emelda A. Okiro, Paul O. Ouma, Robert W. Snow, Andrew J. Tatem, John G. Meara, and Victor A. Alegana. 2018. "Geospatial Mapping of Access to Timely Essential Surgery in Sub-Saharan Africa." *BMJ Global Health* 3 (4): e000875. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2018-000875.
- Khorashadi, Ahmad, Debbie Niemeier, Venky Shankar, and Fred Mannering. 2005. "Differences in Rural and Urban Driver-Injury Severities in Accidents Involving Large-Trucks: An Exploratory Analysis." Accident Analysis & Prevention 37 (5): 910–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2005.04.009.
- Knapp, Gregory C., Gavin Tansley, Olalekan Olasehinde, Olusegun I. Alatise, Funmilola Wuraola, Moses O. Olawole, Olujide O. Arije, Bata M. Gali, and T. Peter Kingham. 2019. "Mapping Geospatial Access to Comprehensive Cancer Care in Nigeria." *Journal of Global Oncology*, no. 5 (December): 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1200/JGO.19.00283.
- Kimwell, Miharu Jay, Ngo, Frances Louis, Vicente Alberto R., Puyat, and Siton, George Douglas. 2022. " Efficiency and effectiveness of earmarking for public health in the Philippines. [Manuscript submitted for publication]
- Kobusingye, O., D. Guwatudde, and R. Lett. 2001. "Injury Patterns in Rural and Urban Uganda." *Injury Prevention: Journal of the International Society for Child and Adolescent Injury Prevention* 7 (1): 46–50. https://doi.org/10.1136/ip.7.1.46.
- Kotoh, Agnes Millicent, and Sjaak Van der Geest. 2016. "Why Are the Poor Less Covered in Ghana's National Health Insurance? A Critical Analysis of Policy and Practice." *International Journal for Equity in Health* 15 (1): 34. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-016-0320-1.
- Kyei-Nimakoh, Minerva, Mary Carolan-Olah, and Terence V. McCann. 2017. "Access Barriers to Obstetric Care at Health Facilities in Sub-Saharan Africa—a Systematic Review." *Systematic Reviews* 6 (1): 110. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-017-0503-x.
- Lao, Marian Stephanie R., Maria Cecilia R. Paringit, and Stephen Ross L. Roleda. 2022. "GIS-Based Site Suitability Analysis for Healthcare Facility Development in Tacloban City, Philippines." GEOMATE Journal 22 (92): 16–23.
- Larson, Sharon L., and Steven C. Hill. 2005. "Rural-Urban Differences in Employment-Related Health Insurance." *The Journal of Rural Health* 21 (1): 21–30. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-0361.2005.tb00058.x.
- Lavado, Rouselle F., Ida Marie T. Pantig, Kristine Tyrol Z. Rosales, and Valerie Gilbert T. Ulep. 2012. "Improvement of the Implementation Procedures and Management Systems for the Health Facilities Enhancement Grant of the Department of Health." *Philippine Institute for Development Studies*, PIDS Discussion Paper Series, 2012 (24).
- Lawal, Olanrewaju, and Felix E. Anyiam. 2019. "Modelling Geographic Accessibility to Primary Health Care Facilities: Combining Open Data and Geospatial Analysis." *Geo-Spatial Information Science* 22 (3): 174–84. https://doi.org/10.1080/10095020.2019.1645508.

- Leining, L. M., S. R. Gatchalian, S. M. Gunter, N. T. Castillo-Carandang, A. M. Mandalakas, A. T. Cruz, J. B. McCormick, and K. O. Murray. 2020. "Geospatial and Hot Spot Analysis of Paediatric Tuberculosis Infection in Bohol, Philippines." *Epidemiology and Infection* 148: e89. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268820000795.
- Li, Jie, and Nikolas Rose. 2017. "Urban Social Exclusion and Mental Health of China's Rural-Urban Migrants – A Review and Call for Research." *Health & Place* 48 (November): 20–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2017.08.009.
- Li, Yao, Miao Pu, Yaping Wang, Tienan Feng, and Chenghua Jiang. 2020. "Analysis of the Reduction in Injury Mortality Disparity between Urban and Rural Areas in Developing China from 2010 to 2016." *BMC Public Health* 20 (1): 903. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-09027-3.
- Long, Qian, Ling Xu, Henk Bekedam, and Shenglan Tang. 2013. "Changes in Health Expenditures in China in 2000s: Has the Health System Reform Improved Affordability." *International Journal for Equity in Health* 12 (1): 40. https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-9276-12-40.
- Luong, Duong Huy, Shenglan Tang, Tuohong Zhang, and Margaret Whitehead. 2007. "Vietnam during Economic Transition: A Tracer Study of Health Service Access and Affordability." *International Journal of Health Services* 37 (3): 573–88. https://doi.org/10.2190/2422-2477-6233-3G0N.
- Luu, Kathy, Laura Jane Brubacher, Lincoln L Lau, Jennifer A Liu, and Warren Dodd. 2022. "Exploring the Role of Social Networks in Facilitating Health Service Access among Low-Income Women in the Philippines: A Qualitative Study." *Health Services Insights* 15 (January): 117863292110689. https://doi.org/10.1177/11786329211068916.
- Macharia, Peter M., Patroba A. Odera, Robert W. Snow, and Abdisalan M. Noor. 2017.
 "Spatial Models for the Rational Allocation of Routinely Distributed Bed Nets to Public Health Facilities in Western Kenya." *Malaria Journal* 16 (1): 367. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12936-017-2009-3.
- Magalhães, Alessandro Leonardo Alvares, and Otaliba Libânio de Morais Neto. 2017. "Intra-Urban Differences in Rates of Admissions for Ambulatory Care Sensitive Conditions in Brazil's Center-West Region." *Ciência & Saúde Coletiva* 22 (6): 2049–62. https://doi.org/10.1590/1413-81232017226.16632016.
- Marmot, Michael. 2007. "Achieving Health Equity: From Root Causes to Fair Outcomes." *The Lancet* 370 (9593): 1153–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61385-3.
- Moshiro, Candida, Ivar Heuch, Anne Nordrehaug Astrøm, Philip Setel, Yusuf Hemed, and Gunnar Kvåle. 2005. "Injury Morbidity in an Urban and a Rural Area in Tanzania: An Epidemiological Survey." *BMC Public Health* 5 (January): 11. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-5-11.
- Okedo-Alex, Ijeoma Nkem, Ifeyinwa Chizoba Akamike, Obumneme Benaiah Ezeanosike, and Chigozie Jesse Uneke. 2019. "Determinants of Antenatal Care Utilisation in Sub-Saharan Africa: A Systematic Review." *BMJ Open* 9 (10): e031890. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2019-031890.
- O'Neill, Kathryn, Marina Takane, Ashley Sheffel, Carla Abou-Zahr, and Ties Boerma. 2013. "Monitoring Service Delivery for Universal Health Coverage: The Service Availability and Readiness Assessment." *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 91 (12): 923– 31. https://doi.org/10.2471/BLT.12.116798.
- Ouma, Paul O., Lucas Malla, Benjamin W. Wachira, Hellen Kiarie, Jeremiah Mumo, Robert W. Snow, Mike English, and Emelda A. Okiro. 2022. "Geospatial Mapping of Timely Access to Inpatient Neonatal Care and Its Relationship to Neonatal Mortality in Kenya." Edited by Neha Batura. *PLOS Global Public Health* 2 (6): e0000216. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgph.0000216.

- Palagyi, Anna, Rebecca Dodd, Stephen Jan, Devaki Nambiar, Rohina Joshi, Maoyi Tian, Seye Abimbola, and David Peiris. 2019. "Organisation of Primary Health Care in the Asia-Pacific Region: Developing a Prioritised Research Agenda." *BMJ Global Health* 4 (Suppl 8): e001467. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2019-001467.
- Peters, David H., Anu Garg, Gerry Bloom, Damian G. Walker, William R. Brieger, and M. Hafizur Rahman. 2008. "Poverty and Access to Health Care in Developing Countries." *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 1136 (1): 161–71. https://doi.org/10.1196/annals.1425.011.
- Pratiwi, Agnes Bhakti, Hermawati Setiyaningsih, Maarten Olivier Kok, Trynke Hoekstra, Ali Ghufron Mukti, and Elizabeth Pisani. 2021. "Is Indonesia Achieving Universal Health Coverage? Secondary Analysis of National Data on Insurance Coverage, Health Spending and Service Availability." *BMJ Open* 11 (10): e050565. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2021-050565.
- Purdy, S., T. Griffin, C. Salisbury, and D. Sharp. 2009. "Ambulatory Care Sensitive Conditions: Terminology and Disease Coding Need to Be More Specific to Aid Policy Makers and Clinicians." *Public Health* 123 (2): 169–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2008.11.001.
- Reilly, K. H., D. Gu, X. Duan, X. Wu, C.-S. Chen, J. Huang, T. N. Kelly, et al. 2008. "Risk Factors for Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Mortality in Chinese Adults." *American Journal of Epidemiology* 167 (8): 998–1004. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwm393.
- Santos, Filipe Malta dos, César Macieira, Antônio Thomaz Gonzaga da Matta Machado, Elis Mina Seraya Borde, and Alaneir Fátima dos Santos. 2022. "Admissions Due to Ambulatory Care-Sensitive Conditions (ACSC): An Analysis Based on Socio-Demographic Characteristics, Brazil and Regions, 2010 to 2019." *Revista Brasileira de Epidemiologia* 25: e220012. https://doi.org/10.1590/1980-549720220012.
- Savadogo, Germain, Aurelia Souarès, Ali Sié, Divya Parmar, Gilles Bibeau, and Rainer Sauerborn. 2015. "Using a Community-Based Definition of Poverty for Targeting Poor Households for Premium Subsidies in the Context of a Community Health Insurance in Burkina Faso." *BMC Public Health* 15 (1): 84. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-014-1335-4.
- Shafiq, Yasir, Babar Tasneem Shaikh, and Ramesh Kumar. 2011. "Availability and Affordability of Essential Medicines: Exploring the Health Seeking Behaviours and Health Service Utilisation for Children under-5 Years Living in Squatter Settlement of Karachi, Pakistan." *Journal of Ayub Medical College, Abbottabad: JAMC* 23 (1): 132–38.
- Singh, Poonam Khetrapal, Andrew Cassels, and Phyllida Travis. 2018. *Primary Health Care at Forty: Reflections from South-East Asia*. New Delhi: World Health Organization. Regional Office for South-East Asia. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/275407.
- Stanaway, Jeffrey D, Ashkan Afshin, Emmanuela Gakidou, Stephen S Lim, Degu Abate, Kalkidan Hassen Abate, Cristiana Abbafati, et al. 2018. "Global, Regional, and National Comparative Risk Assessment of 84 Behavioural, Environmental and Occupational, and Metabolic Risks or Clusters of Risks for 195 Countries and Territories, 1990–2017: A Systematic Analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017." The Lancet 392 (10159): 1923–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32225-6.
- Stellenberg, Ethelwynn L. 2015. "Accessibility, Affordability and Use of Health Services in an Urban Area in South Africa." *Curationis* 38 (1): 7 pages. https://doi.org/10.4102/curationis.v38i1.102.

- Subramanian, S., D. J. Corsi, M. A. Subramanyam, and G. Davey Smith. 2013. "Jumping the Gun: The Problematic Discourse on Socioeconomic Status and Cardiovascular Health in India." *International Journal of Epidemiology* 42 (5): 1410–26. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyt017.
- Sumile, Earl Francis, John Howell Diric, Zariah Monica Dorado, Kate Dumaua, Monica Julia Ryven Ecura, and Jose Maria Dumaya. 2020. "Dengue Vaccine Controversy Awareness, Vaccine Health Literacy, and Vaccine Acceptability among Mothers in Select Rural Communities." *Journal of Health and Caring Sciences* 2 (2): 123–34. https://doi.org/10.37719/jhcs.2020.v2i2.oa005.
- Tanahashi, T. 1978. "Health Service Coverage and Its Evaluation." Bulletin of the World Health Organization 56 (2): 295–303.
- Tian, Tao, Yuhuai Chen, Jing Zhu, and Pengling Liu. 2015. "Effect of Air Pollution and Rural-Urban Difference on Mental Health of the Elderly in China." *Iranian Journal of Public Health* 44 (8): 1084–94.
- Tibebe, Akalu, Amarech, Melesse, and Mariam. 2012. "Examining out of Pocket Payments for Maternal Health in Rural Ethiopia: Paradox of Free Health Care Un-Affordability." *Ethiopian Journal of Health Development* 26 (1): 251–57.
- Ulep, Valerie Gilbert T, Jhanna Uy, and Lyle Daryll Casas. 2020. "Primary Health Care for Noncommunicable Diseases in the Philippines." *Philippine Institute for Development Studies*, PIDS Discussion Paper Series, 2020 (39): 25.
- Uy, Jhanna, Christian Edward L Nuevo, Lyle Daryll D Casas, and Valerie Gilbert T Ulep. 2021. "The Financial Health of Select Philippine Hospitals and the Role of the Philippine Health Insurance Corporation as the National Strategic Purchaser of Health Services," PIDS Discussion Paper Series, , December, 55.
- Van Enk, Richard A., and Florence Steinberg. "Comparison of private room with multiple-bed ward neonatal intensive care unit environments." HERD: Health Environments Research & Design Journal 5.1 (2011): 52-63.
- Waiswa, Peter, Margaret Kemigisa, Juliet Kiguli, Sarah Naikoba, George W Pariyo, and Stefan Peterson. 2008. "Acceptability of Evidence-Based Neonatal Care Practices in Rural Uganda – Implications for Programming." *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth* 8 (1): 21. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-8-21.
- Wallar, Lauren E., Eric De Prophetis, and Laura C. Rosella. 2020. "Socioeconomic Inequalities in Hospitalizations for Chronic Ambulatory Care Sensitive Conditions: A Systematic Review of Peer-Reviewed Literature, 1990–2018." *International Journal for Equity in Health* 19 (1): 60. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-020-01160-0.
- World Health Organization. 1999. *The World Health Report. 1999: Making a Difference*. Geneva: World Health Organization.
 - —. 2011. "Global status report on noncommunicable diseases 2010." https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/44579.
- ------. 2018. "Primary Health Care: Closing the Gap between Public Health and Primary Care through Integration." World Health Organization. https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/326458/WHO-HIS-SDS-2018.49-eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y.
- Xiong, Xiaolei, Zhiguo Zhang, Jing Ren, Jie Zhang, Xiaoyun Pan, Liang Zhang, Shiwei Gong, and Si Jin. 2018. "Impact of Universal Medical Insurance System on the Accessibility of Medical Service Supply and Affordability of Patients in China." *PloS One* 13 (3): e0193273. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0193273.

- Yin, Hui, Qunhong Wu, Yu Cui, Yanhua Hao, Chaojie Liu, Ye Li, Libo Liang, Limin Wang, and Yuchun Tao. 2017. "Socioeconomic Status and Prevalence of Chronic Non-Communicable Diseases in Chinese Women: A Structural Equation Modelling Approach." BMJ Open 7 (8): e014402. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-014402.
- Yuen, Aidan, Carla Martins Rocha, Estie Kruger, and Marc Tennant. 2018. "The equity of access to primary dental care in São Paulo, Brazil: A geospatial analysis." *International Dental Journal* 68 (3): 171–75. https://doi.org/10.1111/idj.12336.
- Zhao, Yang, Brian Oldenburg, Siqi Zhao, Tilahun Nigatu Haregu, and Luwen Zhang. 2020. "Temporal Trends and Geographic Disparity in Hypertension Care in China." *Journal of Epidemiology* 30 (8): 354–61. https://doi.org/10.2188/jea.JE20190029.

7. Annex

Table A1. Criteria for assessing data quality

	Data quality category*	Attribute	Definition
1	Completeness	Completeness	The absence of data values at a single moment in time (or measured over time) agrees with local or common expectations. (i.e. no missing values)
2	+ € €	Timeliness	Data represents reality within a reasonable <u>period of time</u> for organization's needs.
3	Plausibility • Uniqueness	Uniqueness	Data values that identify a single object that are not duplicated.
4	Temporal	Accuracy	Observed or derived values conform to expected temporal properties. The data corresponds to reality or truth.
5	Conformance Value Relational	Validity	Data values conform to internal formatting constraints and/or allowable values or ranges.
6		Consistency	Data values conform to relational constraints. No contradictions among data fields.

*Categories are based on Kahn et al. (2016). A Harmonized Data Quality Assessment Terminology and Framework for the Secondary Use of Electronic Health Record Data.

Table A	2. List of	ICD-10	Used for	Classifying	ACSC
---------	------------	--------	----------	-------------	------

Disease	ICD-10 Codes			
Asthma	J45.00, J45.10, J45.80, J45.90, J46			
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD)	J43.0, J43.1, J43.2, J43.8, J43.9, J44.1, J44.8, J44.9, J20.9			
Pneumonia	J12.03, J12.13, J12.23, J12.33, J12.93, J13.3, J14.3, J15.03, J15.13, J15.23, J15.33, J15.43, J15.53, J15.63, J15.73, J15.93, J16.03, J18.03, J18.13, J18.23, J12.02, J12.22, J12.32, J12.92, J13.2, J14.2, J15.02, J15.12, J15.22, J15.32, J15.42, J15.52, J15.62, J15.72, J15.92, J16.02, A01.0+J17.0, A02.2+J17.0, A21.2+J17.0, +A22.1+J17.0, A37.0+J17.0, A37.1+J17.0, A37.8+J17.0, A37.9+J17.0, A42.0+J17, A53.0+J17.0, A54.8+J17.0, A69.8+J17.8, A70+J17.8, A78+J17.8, B01.2+J17.1, B05.2+J17.1, B06.8+J17.1, B25.0+J17.1, B37.1+J17.2, B38.1+J17.2, B38.2+J17.2, B39.0+J17.2, B39.1+J17.2, B39.2+J17.2, B44.0+J17.2, B58.3+J17.3, B65.0+J17.3, B65.2+J17.3, B65.8+J17.3, B65.9+J17.3,			
	100+J17.8, J18.93, J18.99+Y95, J18.02, J18.12, J18.22, J18.92			
Urinary Tract Infection (UTI)	N10, N11.0, N11.1, N11.8, N11.9, N12, N13.6, N39.0			
Hypertension	110.1, 110.9, 111.9			
Diabetes Mellitus	E10.0, E10.1, E10.2+N08.3, E10.5, E10.6, E10.7, E10.8, E10.9, E11.0, E11.1, E11.2+N08.3, E11.5, E11.6, E11.7, E11.9, E12.0, E12.2+N08.3, E12.5, E12.6, E12.8, E13.0, E13.1, E13.2+N08.3, E13.5, E13.6, E14.0, E14.1, E14.2+N08.3, E14.5, E14.6, E14.7			